Antioch University

AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive

Antioch University Full-Text Dissertations & Theses

Antioch University Dissertations and Theses

2023

Deconstructing Orthorexia in an Age of Healthism and Social Media

Maddison Paul Antioch University Seattle

Follow this and additional works at: https://aura.antioch.edu/etds



Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Paul, M. (2023). Deconstructing Orthorexia in an Age of Healthism and Social Media. https://aura.antioch.edu/etds/976

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Antioch University Dissertations and Theses at AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Antioch University Full-Text Dissertations & Theses by an authorized administrator of AURA - Antioch University Repository and Archive. For more information, please contact hhale@antioch.edu.

DECONSTRUCTING ORTHOREXIA IN AN AGE OF HEALTHISM AND SOCIAL MEDIA

A Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of

Antioch University Seattle

In partial fulfillment for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

by

Maddison Paul

ORCID Scholar No. 0009-0003-1446-325X

October 2023

DECONSTRUCTING ORTHOREXIA IN AN AGE OF HEALTHISM AND SOCIAL MEDIA

This dissertation, by Maddison Paul,
has been approved by the committee members signed below
who recommend that it be accepted by the faculty of
Antioch University Seattle
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PSYCHOLOGY

Dissertation Committee:

Dr. Michael Sakuma, PhD, Chairperson

Dr. William Heusler, PsyD

Dr. Holley Kaskel, PsyD

Copyright © 2023 by Maddison Paul All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

DECONSTRUCTING ORTHOREXIA IN AN AGE OF HEALTHISM AND SOCIAL MEDIA

Maddison Paul

Antioch University Seattle

Seattle, WA

Orthorexia, a pathological fixation with healthy eating, has recently emerged as a construct of interest in the field of clinical psychology. Despite its growing recognition, the origin of this construct remains unclear. This dissertation aims to contribute to the understanding of orthorexia by examining its emergence and contextual factors through a constructivist lens. The study found that the cultural, economic, and moralistic landscape of healthism and social medially have played a role in the development of orthorexia. The dominant clinical perspective of orthorexia was also deconstructed, revealing potential biases that may lead to pathologizing the experiences of those who demonstrate orthorexic behaviors. The study highlights the need for careful consideration of the risks and vulnerabilities associated with the integration of orthorexia into diagnostic and clinical models. However, it also acknowledges the reality of individuals expressing suffering in the form of orthorexic behavior and provides treatment considerations to honor their experiences and desire for relief in a clinical setting. This dissertation is available in open access at AURA (https://aura.antioch.edu) and OhioLINK ETD Center (https://etd.ohiolink.edu).

Keywords: orthorexia, healthism, social media, disordered eating

iv

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to anyone who has struggled with feeling not quite so sure about the food they are putting into their bodies and might be frustrated with a system that is supposed to help them navigate their choices. I see you and I honor your experience. I hope that this work brings more clarity to something that is not quite yet understood.

Acknowledgements

If there is anyone to thank for this project coming to fruition, it is my husband, Maverick. You have been a steady, guiding force throughout my educational journey from sitting up with me until midnight crying over a community college art project in 2012 all the way to the completion of my doctoral dissertation in 2023. Your boundless love, constant support, and gentle pushes have been instrumental in helping me recognize and unlock my academic and professional potential. The depths of my gratitude are infinite. Thank you for standing by me and loving me endlessly.

To my committee thank you so much for being the backbone of this project. Dr. Sakuma, thank you for dedicating your time and expertise to help me create something meaningful and for always encouraging me to reflect on my own processes. Dr. Heusler, thank you for always encouraging a little rebellion and managing to make me feel like my work is something truly inspiring to you. Dr. Kaskel, thank you for being the most important role model I have had throughout my doctoral program and agreeing to work with me on my dissertation about 45 minutes into our first lunch together. I look up to the example you have set for balancing it all.

To Emily, thank you for the precious gift of unwavering friendship and authenticity. You have been a constant reminder to find joy in those in between moments of grad-school. From our long walks for coffee in the Seattle mist, philosophical chats about life and psychology, and our shared readings from Kuan Yin's Oracle, every memory is treasured. Navigating the clinical psychology program alongside you has cemented our bond for a lifetime.

To everyone in my community, thank you for providing a lifeforce outside of academia that ultimately allowed me to push through until the end. I love you all.

Table of Contents

4	Abstract	iv
D	Dedication	v
4	acknowledgements	V i
2	CHAPTER I: OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY	1
	Background and Overview	1
	Purpose of the Study	4
	Methodology of the Study	5
	Statement of Positionality	6
	Theoretical Framework.	7
	Terms and Definition	9
	Body Positivity	9
	Eating Disorders	10
	Orthorexia Nervosa (ON)	10
	OSFED/EDNOS	10
C	CHAPTER II: HEALTHISM	11
	Emergence of Healthism	12
	Advances in Health Technologies	12
	Increased Life Expectancy	15
	Growing Public Awareness of Health Risks	15
	The Rise of Consumer Culture	19
	Influences of the Medical Field and Pharmaceutical Industry	20
	Health Expectations	22
	Increased Globalization of Health Ideals Across Cultures	23
	Economic Changes Leading to Increased Focus on Personal Health	25
	Privilege and Morality Associated with Healthism	25

CHAPTER III: EATING DISORDERS	30
Development of Eating Disorders	31
Cultural Factors	32
Influence of Early Childhood Learning	32
Influence of Western "Diet Culture"	33
Influence of Western Global Expansion.	34
Influence of Social Media	34
Genetic Factors	35
Neurobiological Factors	38
Internal Regulatory Systems	39
Alterations in the HPA Axis Function	40
Amygdala, Prefrontal Cortex, and Executive Dysfunction in ED	41
Inflammation	43
CHAPTER IV: ORTHOREXIA	45
Symptoms and Features	45
Current Assessment Tools	47
Bratman Orthorexia Test (BOT)	48
Dusseldorf Orthorexia Scale (DOS)	48
Eating Habits Questionnaire (EHQ)	48
ORTO-15	49
Teruel Orthorexia Scale (TOS)	49
Impact of Orthorexic Behaviors	49
Cultural Relevance of the Emergence of Orthorexia Nervosa	51
Healthy versus Disordered Eating	51
Clinical Classification of Orthorexia	53
Evolution of Orthorexia Relative to Social Media	54

	Social Media	. 55
	The Toxic Pursuit of Wellness	. 58
	Diet Culture	. 60
	Workout Culture	62
	Orthorexia and the Toxic Pursuit of Wellness	. 64
C	HAPTER V: DIAGNOSTIC CLASSIFICATION	65
	Clinical Utility of the Classification System	. 66
	Concerns with the Diagnostic Classification System	. 67
	Diagnostics and Orthorexia	. 70
C	HAPTER VI: SOCIAL MEDIA	. 73
	Historical Context of Social Media	. 75
	Informal Dissemination of Medical Information & Self Diagnosis	. 76
	The Rise of Self-Diagnosis	. 77
	Life Online vs IRL	. 80
	Perpetuation of Western Body Ideals	. 81
	Electronic Health Records	. 82
	Research and Social Media	. 83
C	HAPTER VII: DISCUSSION	. 85
	Treatment Considerations	. 87
	Treatment Considerations and Approaches.	. 88
	Cognitive Behavioral Therapy	. 88
	Narrative Therapy	. 88
	RO-DBT	. 89
	Mindfulness Based Therapy	. 89
	Additional Treatment Notes	. 90
	Implications for Future Research	90

eferences	

CHAPTER I: OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY

Background and Overview

This dissertation provides a non-systematic review of the pathological fixation on healthy eating and wellness, known as orthorexia, in the era of healthism. This exploration acts as a review of existing literature to examine the clinical, cultural, and systemic factors that contribute to the emergence, maintenance, and perpetuation of orthorexia and the toxic pursuit of wellness. Ultimately this undertaking seeks to explore how healthism may have served as a cultural backdrop for the onset, development, and maintenance of orthorexia and the way in which the phenomenon is perpetuated through social interactions and communicative processes that take place on social media in Western culture.

Orthorexia nervosa has received significant attention via popular media even prior to scientific inquiries about its etiology, development, and implications (Agras & Robinson, 2017; (Vandereycken, 2011). The emergence of orthorexia seems to have materialized alongside a burgeoning cultural preoccupation with the pursuit of "ideal health" (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). In the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.; DSM–5; American Psychiatric Association, 2013), orthorexia was diagnosable in the context of an otherwise specified feeding and eating disorder (OSFED) or an avoidant restrictive food intake disorder (ARFID), and does not have its own diagnostic criteria, which remains true for the DSM 5-TR (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Residual diagnostic categories, such as OSFED, are used when the symptomology does not quite meet criteria listed by primary diagnoses of any given section.

Despite their utility for describing subclinical presentations, these categories can be problematic because they are frequently diagnosed, accounting for 50% of all eating disorders,

yet tend to be neglected in research and are, therefore, poorly understood (Fairburn & Bohn, 2005; Machado et al., 2013). Further research on orthorexia could serve to better understand its clinical relevance, as well as its prevalence and significance within a broader cultural context.

It seems that part of the difficulty in assessing the validity of orthorexia nervosa relates to its paradoxical nature. Orthorexia nervosa is commonly regarded as a disease described as a virtue (Bratman & Knight, 2000); developing pathology as a result of intending to achieve wellness appears contradictory, however, individuals struggling to eat a balanced diet as a result of an obsession with food quality are at risk for developing significant impairments and may go unnoticed because the intentions of their behavior. Namely, the pursuit of health and wellness are becoming increasingly sought-after in Western culture. A notable aspect of modern culture, and perhaps the one most relevant to this examination, is the online environment. The internet, particularly social media, offers instant access to fact, fiction, opinion, and commentary on any topic imaginable. In a popular media outlet, Vox, social media is likened to a mental health "minefield" fraught with information and misinformation about conditions, diagnoses, and identities, as well as places for connection or rejection based on a sense of community related to those diagnoses (Jennings, 2021). Beyond this, Pulman and Taylor (2012) used the term "Munchausen by internet" to describe the potential for deception resulting in inaccurate perception, self-diagnosis, malingering, or even improper professional diagnosing as a result of internet- and social media-driven experiences. Similarly, research describes the benefits and burdens of the mental health discourse on social media (Pavlova & Berkers, 2020). Social media also serves to raise awareness and reduce stigma surrounding mental health conditions; using both interpersonal and mass communication which can ultimately increase connection and health literacy (Kim & Mackert, 2022; Link & Phelan, 2001). Platforms such as TikTok, Instagram, and

Facebook have been examined in the context of mental health disorders including anxiety (Alkis et al., 2017; Shensa et al., 2018; Vannucci et al., 2017), depression (Aalbers et al., 2019; Cunningham et al., 2021; Keles et al., 2019; Shensa et al., 2018), disordered sleep (Alonzo et al., 2021; Keles et al., 2019; Royant-Parola et al., 2018), disordered eating (Aparicio-Martinez et al., 2019; Nutley et al., 2021; Rodgers et al., 2020; Saunders & Eaton, 2018; Sidani et al., 2016; Wilksch et al., 2020) and, of additional relevance to the present study, orthorexia and the toxic pursuit of wellness (Bak et al., in press; Baker, 2022; Cheshire et al., 2020; Cinquegrani & Brown, 2018; Gann, 2019; Marks et al., 2020).

In addition to internet and social-media mediated contributions to the development and experiencing of mental health concerns, we also seek to examine the pursuit of health, wellness, and beauty, as well as their interaction with systemic racial and socioeconomic disparities in current Western/U.S. society. Healthism, and the preoccupation with wellness, represent important aspects of the cultural landscape in which orthorexia developed and requires further examination. Previous research demonstrates that cultural values regarding physical aesthetics are correlated with increased vulnerability to the development of eating disorders (Miller & Pumariega, 2001). Some argue that abnormal eating habits are reactions to contemporary social norms idealizing thin bodies (Kadish, 2012; Orbach, 1978). Mass media, which often promotes unrealistic expectations about beauty standards, has also been considered a likely culprit in the development and maintenance of existing eating disorders (Spettigue & Henderson, 2004).

Consequently, it does not seem to be a coincidence that orthorexia nervosa happened to accompany the explosion of healthism—a neologism ascribing responsibility to individuals for their health which will be discussed in more detail in a subsequent section (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). This fixation is furthered by bias, stigma, and discrimination within medical settings.

Biases and discrimination based on sex, race and ethnicity, religion, and other factors are considered prohibited, however, discriminatory language, behavior, and aggression (whether intended or not) toward larger bodies is rarely challenged and remains with the realm of socially acceptable (Lee & Pausé, 2016; Puhl & Heuer, 2009). Further, there are clear health disparities for fat individuals (Lee & Pausé, 2016) which result in less access to healthcare, worse treatment outcomes, and poor or insufficient screening procedures. This is perpetuated by the negative attitudes toward larger bodies, as well as a narrow definition of "health" as prescribed by the World Health Organization in the 1940s (Lee & Pausé, 2016) which excludes any person who experiences a mental, physical, social, or functional impairment from being considered "healthy." Health, by that definition, is nearly impossible to achieve given that more than half of the population in the U.S. will experience a mental health concern in their lifetime (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], n.d.) and the vast majority of the world population, perhaps as high as 95%, experiencing physical health problems (Herricks et al., 2017). As an additional factor, socioeconomic, racial, and systemic factors in the U.S. contribute to significant disparities in health, as well as healthcare access and coverage, for racial and ethnic minorities (Hill & Holland, 2021).

Purpose of the Study

Situating the toxic pursuit of wellness in its cultural bracket serves to better investigate the etiology, development, course, and maintenance factors that give rise to orthorexia.

Literature, to date, addresses many factors surrounding orthorexia; eating disorders, social media and mental health, cultural impact on body image and wellness, etc., however, there is a gap in literature directly linking these branches of research. The primary purpose of this undertaking is to answer the following research questions:

RQ 1. How has healthism influenced the onset, development, and maintenance of orthorexia?

RQ 2. What are the ways in which social media has interacted with the emergence and perpetuation of orthorexia?

Methodology of the Study

In an effort to explore these questions from a theoretical perspective, we utilized a non-systematic review of relevant books, scholarly publications, and studies on orthorexia, healthism, and social media. Using PubMed via the National Library of Medicine, relevant articles were identified with specific search terms and with filtration for the English language and publication within the past 10 years (2013 to 2023). The purpose of the nonsystematic literature search was to evaluate the scope of research available to date regarding orthorexia to inform this review article. Several seminal articles published prior to 2013 are also cited due to their value as primary publications relevant to the present review. Search terms included "orthorexia AND social media" (which yielded 23 results published between 2015 and 2023), "orthorexia" (which yielded 282 results in the past ten years), "orthorexia AND cultural factors" (which yielded 12 results in the past 10 years), and "development of orthorexia" (which yielded 60 results in the past 10 years). Articles were not reviewed or analyzed in a systematic fashion; rather, specific articles were selected based on relevance to the topic of exploration in an effort to provide a streamlined yet comprehensive review of orthorexia in the context of the current social media culture and climate. The information and conclusions gathered as a result of this dissertation will contribute to a growing body of literature surrounding the environmental and cultural contexts in which orthorexia is developed and maintained.

Statement of Positionality

I was inspired to begin researching this topic because of the intense exposure I have experienced in my own life to the health and wellness industry. At first the health and wellness industry was alluring, but quickly I noticed not only myself but many people around me, inundated with products, services, and standards of living that felt simultaneously inaccessible but necessary to obtain or achieve. Of course, I am viewing this phenomenon through my biased lens. But that was even part of my curiosity—is this happening everywhere to everyone, or limited to privileged women of wealthy cities like Seattle and Los Angeles? Around this same time, I noticed the explosion of information sharing via social media and suddenly discourse about orthorexia was appearing in my social media feeds and platforms. Was this it? Orthorexia was to blame for the recent cultural shift I was observing? I needed to know: what is orthorexia anyway? I was curious about the idea that something so culturally valued like the pursuit of wellness could be toxic, but it seemed to validate what I was seeing happening around me. Since my inquiry into orthorexia, I have consistently battled with answering the question of whether or not this is contextually appropriate behavior and our field is reifying a "disorder" that doesn't really exist or whether this is ego-syntonic behavior that is causing some individuals significant distress that is impairing their functioning. As I immersed myself in the research of orthorexia nervosa and the impact social media was having on the development and maintenance of this phenomenon as a disorder I began to develop a negative bias around the potential for misinformation of mental health issues spread on social media by both psychology professionals and general public/lay people. I come from a highly educated background and my training has instilled in me the importance of consuming reliable and empirically validated sources of information and how it is essential that I view the original research to determine for myself the

quality of study before I accept the results. And then social media is full of clips and extremely simplified information that users are taking at face-value. And yet, social media is changing the landscape of research and accessibility to the general public, ultimately this is a positive shift. Ideally the general public would have access to as much research in as easily digestible format as possible. To mitigate my bias for this manuscript, I used reliable and empirically validated data for the study, methodology, design, and tried to examine various perspectives as I conducted the literature review.

Theoretical Framework

Social constructionism, which is the guiding structure for this undertaking, is a theoretical framework that suggests reality is not objectively given; it is constructed and reconstructed through social interactions and communicative practices (Berger & Luckmann, 1966). Cultural forces like language, media, institutions, and interpersonal relationships all mediate the construction of reality. Therefore, the meanings and understandings of our social phenomena are not inherent or fixed, rather they change over time.

This theoretical framework challenges the traditional view of reality as constructed through scientific inquiry. The traditional view of our world through scientific inquiry decontextualizes phenomena in and thereby leaves an incomplete understanding (Gergen, 1985). The scientific method isolates and studies phenomena in a controlled and simplified environment, separate from its natural context. This traditional lens of reality though the scientific inquiry is essential for the advancement of our society but at times, the result can be a reduction of complexity and a loss of information. Life, however, is complex and nuanced, and in the quest for understanding, we benefit from examining the contextual factors that shape our reality.

Through the framework of social constructionism, the world is best understood through the examination of social artifacts, or production of historically situated interactions among people. This includes both material and non-material culture. Material social artifacts include things like buildings, machines, tools, and anything else physically created by humans that serve as symbols of their shared beliefs, values, norms, and social practices. These shared beliefs, values, norms, and social practices represent the non-material social artifacts of any given time. Both are considered to be crucial in the social construction of reality. Furthermore, social constructionists emphasize the fact that our knowledge and understanding of the construction of our reality are not simply given by the natural world, but are actively created and maintained by people through social interactions and communication. The collective activities of society and the meanings assigned to things are constantly being negotiated and renegotiated through social interaction. As such, social constructionists view the understanding of our world as a result of a collective accomplishment, dependent on the active cooperation of people working together. Finally, because worldviews are constantly shifting, social constructionists argue that it is essential to explore the historical and cultural influences to obtain a complete understanding. By studying the collective experiences, cultural beliefs, and historical context, we can gain insight of how different forms of understanding have evolved leading to a more comprehensive and nuanced view of the world.

Because orthorexia first emerged in a non-academic setting, the social constructionist framework guides this inquiry in examining the cultural forces that influenced its emergence as a social artifact. Specifically, it examines how healthism may have acted as a precursor to the construction of this new phenomenon, and the ways in which social media may have been a key element in facilitating this interaction. Furthermore, healthism may have contributed to the

maintenance of orthorexia by reinforcing the idea that one's self-worth and morality is tied to their diet and physical appearance. Thereby leading to the internalization of cultural ideals about healthy eating and has resulted in individuals with orthorexia feeling guilt, shame, and anxiety when they deviate from their perceived "healthy" diets.

The rise of social media contributed to widespread availability of information about nutrition and diet have contributed to the development and maintenance of orthorexia by providing individuals with a constant stream of information about what foods are "good" or "bad" for them and what constitutes a healthy diet. This has resulted in the creation of a culture of dietary perfectionism and has perpetuated the belief that one's diet is a reflection of their worth and morality. Moreover, the commercialization of the health and wellness industry has also perpetuated the onset, development, and maintenance of orthorexia. Companies that sell health and wellness products often make exaggerated and misleading claims about the health benefits of their products, which can lead individuals to believe that their health and wellbeing depends on adhering to a strict, idealized diet complemented by the consumption of such products.

Terms and Definition

In an effort to further situate the proposed study within its cultural context, the following terms and definitions are included within the premises underlying the study. These terms are intended to support the lens through which we evaluate orthorexia, by acknowledging the temporal, cultural, and diagnostic factors that accompany the proposed study.

Body Positivity

Body positivity is defined as asserting agency over self-image by challenging standards of physical aesthetic values put forth by society (Cwynar-Horta, 2016). Instead, body positivity promotes self-love, acceptance of bodies, and favors inclusivity and representation of all body

types, especially ones that are non-normative.

Eating Disorders

The existing primary eating disorders listed in the DSM-5 are widely varied. For the purposes and feasibility of this study, all classifications of eating disorders (ED) are included and are broadly defined as a persistent disturbance in eating behaviors that interferes with ingesting food and impairs physical and psychological health (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013).

Healthism

Healthism is a term defined in 1980 by Robert Crawford to describe the public preoccupation with personal health. The objective with healthism is achieving wellbeing and optimal health through lifestyle modification thereby assigning the majority of responsibility to the individual (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019).

Orthorexia Nervosa (ON)

Orthorexia is a pathological fixation with healthy eating based on the Greek origins of "ortho" meaning straight or correct, "orexi" meaning appetite, and "nervosa" meaning obsession or fixation (Bratman & Knight, 2000). Orthorexia is often associated with substantial dietary restrictions, fatal medical conditions related to malnutrition, mood dysregulation, and social isolation (Moroze et al., 2015).

OSFED/EDNOS

Eating Disorder Otherwise Not Specified (EDNOS) was the label for residual eating disorders in the DSM-IV/DSM-IV-TR, which in addition to removing binge eating disorder, was turned into Otherwise Specified Feeding and Eating Disorders (OSFED) in the DSM-5. These terms are interchangeable. However, both terms will be used throughout the manuscript.

CHAPTER II: HEALTHISM

Healthism is a phenomenon that emerged in the 1970s out of personal health preoccupations. The construct was defined in an effort to call attention to the problematic nature of the health consciousness movement. Robert Crawford (1980) developed the term to describe "the preoccupation with personal health as a primary—often the primary—focus for the definition and achievement of wellbeing; a goal which is to be attained primarily through the modification of lifestyles, with or without therapeutic help" (p. 368). Increasingly, individuals were beginning to assume total responsibility for their health and a growing determination to resist systems in place contributing to poor health. Although this construct appears benign on the surface it has a far more complex nature upon further examination. Specifically, healthism perpetuates the maintenance of the systematic socioeconomic divide and inherently places blame on the individual who failed to improve their health. This places worth, value, or degrees of morality based on an individual's physical health status; in other words, a person perceived as "healthy" is deemed as better than a person perceived as "unhealthy."

Those who subscribe to healthism are part of a system that has become a paradigm for good living. Instead of health being perceived (as it originally was conceptualized) as the absence of disease it becomes an achievement that is comprised of productivity, self-realization, and happiness around an individual's chosen life-path. Hence, these values become less distinctive as they are housed under the ever-increasing umbrella of healthism.

Before exploring how this system is maintained currently, it is important to explore its emergence. Several intersectional and overlapping factors are responsible for the growth of healthism as a cultural phenomenon including increased life expectancy, the rise of consumer culture, influences of the medical field and pharmaceutical industry, the expansion of health

technologies, growing public awareness of health risks, increased globalization of health ideals across cultures, economic changes leading to increased focus on personal health, the impact of media and advertising in shaping cultural norms and beliefs about health, privilege, and mortality.

Emergence of Healthism

The 20th century marked the advancements of health-related technologies, a major decline in mortality rates, and increased life expectancy. As a result, individuals began to develop expectations about their level of health and wellbeing informed by increased health technologies. Simultaneously, the growing middle class in the United States was comprised of people with increased leisure time, disposable income, and tendency toward consumerism. As such, more people began purchasing products and seeking out information related to health enhancement. Stakeholders capitalized, which led to the commercialization of health. These factors, coupled with a trend in self-actualization, contributed to the emergence of preoccupation with personal health and wellbeing, which was defined by Crawford (1980) as healthism.

Advances in Health Technologies

The 20th century is marked by major advances in scientific discovery and advancing technologies. Notably, this time period is characterized by a dramatically reduced mortality rate and an increased life expectancy. In the United States in 1900 the average death rate was around 2,500 per 100,000 people. This number dropped to 875 per 100,000 people by 1999 (National Center for Health Statistics [NCHS], 2020). The decline in mortality is a result of many different forces including systematic research of health services, evaluating cost and effectiveness of medical treatments, and increased adoption of evidence-based practices (Brownson et al., 2009).

Although there have been intermittently documented examples of tracking treatment in history, the beginning of the 20th century is associated with the increasing expectation for documentation of patient-outcomes which came to be known as health services research (Stevens et al., 2003). As medical procedures such as tonsillectomies, appendicectomies, hysterectomies, cholecystectomies, prostatectomies, and cesarean sections became more common, concerns were raised. Specifically, regarding the rates with which these operations were being performed, and in turn, concerns with the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of these treatments. Thus, was born randomized controlled trials (RCT). The adoption of RCT in scientific studies enabled researchers to better evaluate the reliability and validity of emerging treatments. In turn, this allowed more focus on treatments that were effective and discontinuation of treatments that were ineffective.

Health technology advancement was a primary factor in the rise of healthism. The beginning of the 20th century is associated with the increasing expectation for documentation of patient-outcomes which came to be known as health services research (Stevens et al., 2003). In 1972, there was legislation created to assist policymakers in understanding the emerging science and technology as related to the medical field in an effort to evaluate the potential for any adverse environmental, economic, or social impacts they might have had (Sadowski & Pasquale, 2015). By 1995 the official office specifically responsible for conducting these assessments and inquiries was closed, but they left a lasting emphasis on the importance of evaluation of technology used in relationship to the medical field and patient's wellbeing. Current stakeholders maintaining the assessment of health-related technologies include government agencies, patients, providers, and medical technology firms. Their common goal is assessing clinical effectiveness, societal impact, budget impact, ethical concerns, and economic efficiency of health technologies

(O'Donnell, 2009). One prominent tool used to assess the utility of proposed interventions are randomized controlled trials (RCTs). RCTs in scientific research enabled the evaluation of emerging treatment which, in turn, allowed more focus on effective, evidence-based treatments. In addition to randomized controlled trials, cost-effectiveness analyses are another tool that greatly improved medicine in the 20th century. The practice of assessing gains in health relative to its cost helped balance affordability with reliability and validity (Jamison et al., 2006). Thus, cost-effectiveness analysis increases both efficacy and availability of interventions.

The information gained as a result of randomized-controlled trials and cost-effectiveness analysis, consensus of topic-informed experts, respect for patient values, and human diversity translated into the development of evidence-based practices (Biglan & Ogden, 2008). Identifying which treatments work best and of those which were the most economical became the basis for creating clinical practice guidelines. In the field of psychology, this information is gathered via clinical observation, qualitative research, systematic case studies, single case experimental designs, public health and ethnographic research, process-outcome studies, randomized clinical trials, and meta-analysis. Once this information is compiled, experts in the area of study review the selected interventions and make judgments about the most effective options based on their clinical experience of effectiveness and patient preferences (Wieten, 2018). The integration of scientific inquiry, clinical expertise, patient values and characteristics, and culture has contributed to more effective medical intervention and ultimately to the enhancement public health.

The beginning of the 20th century is associated with the increasing expectation for documentation of patient-outcomes which came to be known as health services research (Stevens et al., 2003). The adoption of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) in scientific research enabled

the evaluation of emerging treatment which, in turn, allowed more focus on effective, evidence- based treatments. In addition to randomized controlled trials, cost-effectiveness analysis greatly improved medicine in the 20th century. The practice of assessing gains in health relative to its cost helped balance affordability with reliability and validity (Jamison et al., 2006). Thus, cost-effectiveness analysis increases both efficacy and availability of interventions.

Increased Life Expectancy

Due to the advances in health-related technologies, people are living longer than they ever have before. As a result, people are more likely to be concerned with maintaining their health and wellness into old age. Specifically, the advent of cardiovascular devices such as the intraventricular defibrillator, ventricular assistive devices, pacemakers, cancer-fighting medications, neuroprotective medication for acute stroke, and treatment for diabetes are all significant contributors to the increased anticipated lifespan within the United States (Goldman et al., 2005). This increase in life expectancy continues to benefit from advances in medical technology to the degree that medications targeting the prevention of cancer, HIV/AIDS, and Alzheimer's are at the forefront of research (Goldman et al., 2005). As the possibility of longer life becomes increasingly attainable, people have demonstrated a greater degree of interest and concern in their health, and ways to maintain it. Health literacy and healthcare access are also primary factors in life expectancy (Fan et al., 2021) and research demonstrates a link between social media use and health literacy (Niu et al., 2021).

Growing Public Awareness of Health Risks

The advancements in technology have been a double-edged sword. As outlined above, advances in technology in medicine and healthcare have led to increased life expectancy, improved treatment options, and better disease prevention strategies. However, advancements in

health technologies have had unforeseen risks such as unnecessary usage, increased costs, and increasing rates of chronic diseases, environmental toxins, and lifestyle-related health problems as a result of increased longevity (Tan & Ong, 2002). The media has played a major role in informing the public about health-related risks. The news covers stories about outbreaks of infectious diseases and the dangers of exposure to environmental toxins. Coverage by media has been further supported by growing scientific research about the potential risks that have emerged as a result of health technologies. News stories about outbreaks of infectious diseases, the dangers of exposure to environmental toxins, and the negative health impacts of certain technologies have helped to raise public awareness and prompt calls for action. For example, media covered the 2015 Flint Water Crisis, the Dakota Access Pipeline Protests, and COVID-19 pandemic, all of which brought attention to health risks.

The Flint water crisis began in 2014 when the city of Flint, Michigan switched its water supply from Lake Huron to the Flint River in an effort to cut costs. However, the new water source was not properly treated for corrosion control, which caused lead from aging pipes to leach into the water supply (Nelson, 2016). Lead is a toxic metal that can cause a range of serious health problems, particularly in children, including developmental delays, cognitive impairment, and other neurological effects.

Despite reports of discolored and foul-smelling water, officials initially denied that there was a problem with the water supply, and continued to insist that the water was safe to drink. However, in 2015, independent researchers and medical professionals began to raise concerns about the water quality and its potential health impacts (Flint Water Study Updates, 2015). In response, the city switched back to its original water source, but the damage had already been done, and thousands of people had been exposed to lead-contaminated water.

The Flint water crisis quickly became a national news story, with many people expressing outrage over the government's slow response to the crisis and the impact it had on public health (Nelson, 2016). The crisis led to a number of investigations and legal actions, including the indictment of several officials and the establishment of a \$600 million settlement fund for affected residents (Suliman, 2021). The crisis also highlighted broader issues related to infrastructure and environmental justice, particularly in low-income communities and communities of color, which are often disproportionately impacted by environmental hazards and lack access to safe, clean water.

Another example of media coverage of potential environmental toxins affecting health was the reporting on the Dakota Access Pipeline Protests (DAPL). One of the main concerns raised by opponents of the DAPL was the potential risk of oil spills and leaks, which could contaminate the water supply and cause long-term health problems for nearby communities (Plumer, 2016). The Standing Rock Sioux Tribe argued that the pipeline threatened the safety of their drinking water, which was already contaminated by decades of oil and gas extraction in the area (Northcott, 2016).

In addition to concerns about water contamination, there were also concerns about the impact of the pipeline on the environment and public health. Activists argued that the pipeline would contribute to climate change by increasing the use of fossil fuels, which would have negative impacts on public health and well-being (Worland, 2016). They also argued that the construction of the pipeline would have negative impacts on local communities, including increased noise pollution, air pollution, and disruptions to traditional cultural practices.

The Dakota Access Pipeline (DAPL) was a major news story for several months, with coverage peaking in late 2016 and early 2017. The controversy surrounding the pipeline began in

early 2016 when the Standing Rock Sioux Tribe and other activists began protesting the pipeline's construction. The media coverage tapered off in early 2017 when the pipeline was completed and protestors left the area.

Another example of media coverage of a national health crisis has been the ongoing coverage of the COVID-19 pandemic (Mach et al., 2021). As the virus spread rapidly across the globe, news outlets around the world provided near-constant coverage of the pandemic, with updates on case numbers, death tolls, and public health measures (Kellerman et al., 2022). Media coverage of the pandemic has been characterized by a mix of reporting on the latest developments in the science and epidemiology of the virus, as well as analysis of the political and economic implications of the pandemic. The pandemic has also prompted extensive coverage of the impact on individuals and communities, including personal stories of those affected by the virus, as well as coverage of the healthcare workers and other essential personnel on the frontline of the response.

There has also been extensive coverage of the public health measures implemented to control the spread of the virus, such as lockdowns, social distancing measures, and mask mandates (Mach et al., 2021). As the pandemic has progressed, media coverage has also focused on the development and distribution of vaccines, as well as debates over vaccine mandates and vaccine hesitancy.

While we can benefit from increased life expectancy, we also have to navigate the risks associated with things like industrial farming and environmental toxins. Fueled by media, the general public is becoming more informed than they ever have been before about the environmental risks that threaten their health and wellbeing.

The Rise of Consumer Culture

The increased awareness around environmental risks to health and wellbeing combined with the growing influence of consumerism has created an entire industry for health and wellness products and services. As such individuals are increasingly being viewed as consumers of these products in turn expanding the market of goods and services promised to improve health and prevent illness.

According to a report by the Global Wellness Institute, the global wellness industry was valued at \$4.5 trillion in 2018, with a projected growth rate of 5–10% per year (Global Wellness Summit, 2019). This industry includes products and services related to fitness, nutrition, personal care, and complementary and alternative medicine. The report also notes that consumers are increasingly willing to pay a premium for products and services that promote wellness and prevent illness.

The popularity of health and wellness products can be attributed to several factors, including an increased awareness of the importance of a healthy lifestyle, an aging population, and the rise of chronic diseases such as obesity, diabetes, and heart disease (Global Wellness Summit, 2019). Many consumers are looking for products and services that can help them manage these conditions and improve their overall health and well-being.

The market for health and wellness products is also driven by advances in technology, which have led to the development of new products and services that can monitor and improve health. It was reported that roughly 87 million people in the United States use health and fitness apps (Entgal, 2022). For example, wearable devices such as fitness trackers and smartwatches can track activity levels, heart rate, and sleep patterns, while telemedicine services allow patients to consult with healthcare providers remotely.

Post-pandemic, the wellness industry is projected to grow even bigger and become more profitable.

Influences of the Medical Field and Pharmaceutical Industry

The medical field and pharmaceutical industry have played vital roles in shaping how health and wellness are perceived and pursued. Medical professionals, as trusted sources of health information, have the responsibility to provide accurate and up-to-date information to their patients. They are also responsible for providing evidence-based recommendations and advice that promote good health practices and prevent or treat diseases.

The pharmaceutical industry's role in promoting health and wellness is primarily through the development and marketing of drugs and medical products. The industry invests heavily in research and development to discover new treatments for various health conditions. These products have improved and saved countless lives, and advancements in medical technology have significantly improved health outcomes.

However, the pharmaceutical industry stands to gain large profits from individuals who are sick (Moynihan, 2002). As such, ethical concerns have been raised about the profitability of medicine. Prioritizing profits over patients has led to increased medicalization, unnecessary labeling, poor treatment decisions, iatrogenic illness, and economic waste. Perhaps most importantly, this system is designed to further entrench us in individualized and privatized solutions for health (Crawford, 1980; Moynihan, 2002). And because the primary focus is on profitability, some ethical concerns have been raised. One of the most significant ethical concerns is the overpricing of drugs. Prices for some life-saving drugs can be so high that they are out of reach for many patients, even in developed countries. This has led to debates about the ethics of charging exorbitant prices for essential drugs and access to healthcare. For example, the

outrage over EpiPen prices reaching \$600 for a single dose (Mangan, 2016). Both the general public and some doctors raised concerns about the fact that there's only about one-dollar worth of epinephrine in the injector yet, the cost is so high that people cannot afford to buy them.

Another ethical concern is the prioritization of profits over patient health. In some cases, pharmaceutical companies may be incentivized to prioritize profits over patients' health outcomes, such as in cases where they market drugs that are not necessarily effective or safe for certain populations. One significant instance of this has been the encouragement of opioid pain medication from pharmaceutical companies. As the opioid epidemic in the United States rages on people are understandably looking for the parties responsible. And while physicians and pharmacists have been identified as a major part of the problem, many people are looking at pharmaceutical companies as the source of the problem (Haffajee & Mello, 2020). Since the year 2000, several lawsuits have been filed against opioid manufactures and producers such as Purdue Pharma on the basis that safety warnings were omitted or withheld and that they were misrepresented as safer than alternatives (Bonnie et al., 2017; Haffajee & Mello, 2020). However, recent research has been demonstrating that the alternatives are just as effective and are not accompanied by the same risks. In fact, a recent randomized controlled clinical trial in the emergency room demonstrated that at 2 hours there was no significant pain difference between individuals who had received ibuprofen and acetaminophen or three different opioid and ace acetaminophen combinations (Chang et al., 2017). While more and more studies are highlighting the effectiveness of ibuprofen and acetaminophen combined for pain relief, they just are not as profitable as opioids. These facts lead to speculation about the priorities of pharmaceutical companies and lead patients to wonder if their best interests are being honored.

Health Expectations

In situating healthism, it is important also to examine the role of patient expectations in healthcare. Given the increased efficacy and availability of medical interventions, as well as the culture that developed around wellness and health consciousness, patient expectations for the care they receive have subsequently shifted. To date, research has explored expectations about improved health outcomes as a result of healthcare treatment including surgery (Flood et al., 1993), interactions with medical providers and clinicians, and the healthcare system as an entity (El-Haddad et al., 2020). Other research has focused on life expectancy as well as subjective expectations related to health trajectory across the lifespan (Rappange et al., 2016) which has been dramatically impacted by objective life expectancies. In the United States, in 1900, the average death rate was around 2,500 per 100,000 people. This number dropped to 875 per 100,000 people by 1999 (NCHS, 2020). The decline in mortality is a result of many different forces including systematic research of health services, evaluating cost and effectiveness of medical treatments, and increased adoption of evidence-based practices (Brownson et al., 2009) and contributes to subjective expectations about both length and quality of life.

Broadly, people are taking an increased interest in their health and wellness; they have expectations about their health based on their health-related behaviors (Rappange et al., 2016) and seek care anticipating improved outcomes based on the interventions and treatment they receive. This also reflects a degree of awareness about health and wellness, as well as a level of individual agency in the pursuit thereof. This aspiration toward health and wellness is a primary aspect of healthism. Those who subscribe to healthism are part of a system that has become a paradigm for good living. Instead of health being perceived as it originally was conceptualized,

as the absence of disease, it became an achievement that is comprised of productivity, self- realization, and happiness.

Increased Globalization of Health Ideals Across Cultures

With the increase in global travel, trade, and communication, the exchange of cultural values, practices, and products between different countries has also increased. Globalization has had a significant impact on societies around the world. As people from different parts of the world converge, they bring with them their unique beliefs, customs, and traditions, resulting in the exchange of cultural values and practices. This exchange has led to the development of new cultural expressions, including music, art, and literature, that celebrate the diversity of cultures.

More specifically, globalization has led to the exchange of health ideals through the dissemination of health information, medical technology, and the adoption of health practices and lifestyles that were previously limited to specific regions (Labonté, 2015). The internet and social media have enabled people to access health information from different parts of the world. As a result, people have been exposed to a broader range of health information and practices, leading to the adoption of new health ideals. Advances in medical technology, such as telemedicine and remote healthcare, have made it possible for healthcare providers to offer services across borders. Patients in remote or underserved areas can now access medical services from healthcare providers in different parts of the world (Mitchell, 2023). This exchange of medical technology has led to the adoption of new health ideals, such as preventive medicine, that were previously limited to specific regions.

Yet anytime there is a major increase of cultural exchange, it is imperative that we consider the ways in which our biases and colonization mindset can lead to cultural appropriation and the loss of traditional practices. We have seen throughout history that privilege is often

invisible to people of majority identity and that there have been repeated failings to acknowledge the ways in which their race lends itself to advantages in life. As such, there is a pattern of taking cultural practices and ideals without honoring the cultural context in which the practices originated, acknowledging the way in which many cultures have been oppressed or marginalized, and can unintentionally perpetuate harmful stereotypes.

In the health and wellness industry there has been a recent emphasis placed on the adoption of eastern health philosophies such as Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) and Ayurvedic practices (Leonti & Casu, 2013). Many Western companies have started to incorporate TCM and Ayurvedic ingredients into their products, such as dietary supplements, skin care products, and teas. For example, turmeric, a common Ayurvedic ingredient, has been marketed as a "superfood" in the West and is now commonly found in health food stores and supplement aisles (Mishra et al., 2020). In addition to incorporating TCM and Ayurvedic ingredients into existing products, many Western companies have also created entirely new products based on these practices. For example, online wellness publications are highlighting several new wellness brands rooted in Chinese Medicine with products like the "Strange Bird Inner Balance Serum" designed to create harmony within the physical and emotional body (Sloan, 2022). Additionally, there have been an emergence of Ayurvedic-inspired yoga mats and clothes from companies like Manduka, and even more explicitly, "ayuray, a wellness and lifestyle brand that creates products based on conscious choices, sustainable practices, and Fairtrade." The increased popularity of TCM and Ayurvedic practices in the West has led to some instances of misuse, particularly when it comes to herbal remedies (Ekor, 2014). In some cases, Western consumers have self-diagnosed and self-treated using TCM or Ayurvedic herbs, without consulting a practitioner or understanding the complexities of these medical systems. As such there have been issues with adverse reactions and difficulty in monitoring safety effectively.

The adoption of eastern medicine is likely a response to the various issues of healthism that have been discussed previously. Access to this ancient knowledge of wellness has certainly lent itself to a more well-rounded and holistic view of health in Western society. However, it is important to acknowledge how this insight has come at the expense of other communities.

Economic Changes Leading to Increased Focus on Personal Health

Likely as a result of Capitalism and stakeholders looking for every opportunity to increase profit margins. As such, there has been a growing recognition of the economic benefits of a healthy workforce, with healthy employees being more productive and less likely to miss work due to illness. Governments, employers, and insurance companies have increasingly encouraged or even mandated health promotion programs and wellness initiatives, such as fitness programs, health screening, and disease prevention measures (Spoth et al., 2007).

Investing in employee health and wellness has been shown to lead to significant financial savings. For example, a study by the Harvard Business Review found that for every dollar spent on wellness programs, companies saw a return on investment of up to \$6 in healthcare cost savings, reduced absenteeism, and increased productivity (Berry et al., 2010). In addition to the financial benefits, wellness programs can also improve employee morale, job satisfaction, and retention rates.

Privilege and Morality Associated with Healthism

Because consumerism and materialism play a role in the propagation of healthism in Western culture, there are inherent barriers dictating who gets to participate in this system.

Income and socioeconomic status serve as gatekeepers for engaging in health-related behavior in the United States, and this is accompanied by a set of attitudes, perceptions, and stigmatized

beliefs about consumer choices. Olson et al. (2016) evaluated perceived morality relative to the purchasing of products considered "healthier" or "more ethical." Results from a series of experiments showed that those who have higher income, and subsequently spend more on goods that are perceived to be ethical (i.e., organic foods, environmentally friendly goods/services, etc.) were rated more favorably by participants than those with lower-income individuals who made similar purchasing decisions. The scrutiny, stigma, and judgment for lower-income individuals, and the privilege of socioeconomic advantage, creates an inevitable disparity in participation in healthism. This can be generalized as well to health literacy; those who are in privileged groups (i.e., highly educated, higher income, majority identity, younger adults, etc.) also carry a greater level of health literacy or the ability to understand and navigate health, healthcare, and health-related decisions. Cho et al. (2008) demonstrated that health literacy directly impacts health outcomes and healthcare use, and other research indicates that increasing health literacy would significantly increase accessibility of health services, and subsequently, health equity (Stormacq et al., 2018). This is an important factor when considering healthism, as it may represent a facet of privilege; the presence of sufficient health literacy, socioeconomic advantage, and youth afford some the ability to participate in the pursuit of health and wellness more readily than others. Those who are able to participate in healthism as a culture are also likely perceived as more noble or ethical than those who are less able to engage in the pursuit of health and wellness, such as those who are from underprivileged groups.

In addition to stigma and lowered health literacy among marginalized populations, physical and monetary access to the wellness industry is another barrier to consider. Specifically, low-income and minority communities are more likely to live in food deserts, or areas characterized by poor access to healthy, fresh, and affordable food (Beaulac et al., 2009).

Instead, they are located by fast-food chains and convenience marts offering food with poorer nutritional quality than is typically found at a grocery store. What's more, the markets that do exist within food deserts have been found to carry expensive, wilted, and overripe produce (Hilmers et al., 2012). The lack of access to healthy and affordable food has been identified as a contributing factor to diet-related health-outcomes like increased rates of cardiovascular disease and obesity (Beaulac et al., 2009). So, while one group, benefiting from privilege, is experiencing benefits and the potential for disordered behavior as a result of their pursuit of health, a disadvantaged group of people are limited in their ability to even access the pursuit of their health and relegated to do the best with what they have got.

Privilege is an important aspect in the development of healthism, but morality plays an important role as well (Hamann et al., 2015). There is an emphasis on individual responsibility for health as it pertains to body size and shape as well as health-related behavior. Foundational to the notion of healthism is that being healthy is a moral imperative, and those who are unhealthy are often viewed as lazy or lacking in self-discipline. As such, this moral imperative implies that health is something entirely within an individual's control, which is problematic given the way in which privilege, as noted above, moderates one's ability to pursue their health.

This idea has been long present in history; notably, Saint Catherine of Sienna is infamous for "holy anorexia," or her practice of self-denial for the sake of others (Mahon, 2015).

Essentially, giving into hunger was regarded as a sin and fasting demonstrated devotion to God.

St. Catherine, and many like her, donated food as they felt a responsibility to experience hunger with the poor. By her own admission, however, Saint Catherine's fasting was based on her own aesthetic preferences, and she knew her practice of fasting was causing her to be ill.

This is echoed in present Western culture, particularly relative to emergence of eating disorders. The idea of health and nobility as being synonymous further contributes to the healthism culture which has emerged in recent years. Even recent literature is perpetuating the notion that restricting food is good as it is linked to increased longevity. The study was part of a multi-center trial called CALERIE (Comprehensive Assessment of Long-term Effects of Reducing Intake of Energy), sponsored by the US National Institutes of Health. The trial tested the effects of 2 years of caloric restriction on metabolism in more than 200 healthy, non-obese adults. Participants reduced the number of calories they consumed per day and the results found evidence that such restrictions are correlated with slowed metabolisms. The results of the study suggest that low-calorie lifestyles or treatments that mimic the biological effects of restricted eating could prolong health in old age and even extend life.

Despite the promising result of the CALERIE study, food insecurity, or a lack of access to adequate food due to limited money or resources, is a major issue in the United States, with almost 50 million Americans being affected in 2013 (Gundersen & Ziliak, 2015). This can have negative health consequences, and recent research has examined the association between food insecurity and health. In a review of the literature, it was found that the majority of food insecurity research is conducted in association with children and is associated with increased risks of birth defects, anemia, lower nutrient intake, cognitive problems, and aggression and anxiety. It is also associated with higher risks of hospitalization, poor general health, asthma, behavioral problems, depression, suicide ideation and worse oral health. Further examination is needed of how food insecurity affects adults and geriatric populations as the current data is limited.

The topic of food restriction as it relates to health is an important aspect of reflecting on how privilege and morality mediate the greater conversation of the pursuit of health. It feels as though the pendulum can swing far in either direction when trying to constitute what behaviors and choices will ultimately lead to a greater, healthier life. It also seems that even trying to determine what constitutes health is a difficult task that is significantly affected by the context in which "health" is being viewed. Perhaps, the different ends of the spectrum regarding food restriction point to the notion that typically moderation in all things is best. In the field of psychology, the presence of a disorder is often determined when behavior begins to have significant adverse effects on the individual's psychological and physical wellbeing. As such, further examination is needed on the implications of the pursuit of health and wellbeing relative to mental health.

CHAPTER III: EATING DISORDERS

Eating disorders have existed for hundreds of years (Agras & Robinson, 2017). As mentioned previously, Saint Catherine of Sienna is infamous for "holy anorexia," or her practice of self-denial for the sake of others (Mahon, 2015). However, St. Catherine admitted she knew her practice of fasting was causing her to be deathly ill and that it was based on her own aesthetic preferences.

The first description of anorexic symptoms were described in 1689 by English physician Richard Morton (Keers, 1982). Morton discovered an 18-year-old patient of his had completely stopped menstruating and developed flaccid, loose, and pale skin as a result of starvation (Gowers & Palmer, 2004). He could not relate her presentation to any established medical condition at the time and labeled her symptoms as "wasting disease" as his patient had died two years after he became aware of her symptoms. However, the term "anorexia nervosa" was first established by Sir William Gull in England (Gull, 1997). He described a clinical presentation of emaciated girls often between 16 and 23 years of age also suffering from diminished appetite, amenorrhea, constipation, and fatigue.

Dr. Samuel Johnson first introduced the term "bulimy, an enormous appetite, attended with fainting, and coldness of the extremities" (1775). Later, in the early 1900s, anecdotal reports of symptoms that resemble the modern conceptualization of bulimia were noted in medical documentation (Pope et al., 1985). However, the first clinical description of bulimia is associated with a paper by Gerald Russell published in 1979. It was around the early 1970s that clinicians first documented the phenomenon of uncontrolled binge eating followed by vomiting as a means of maintaining a normal weight (Palmer, 1998).

Despite a long history of symptoms resembling modern conceptualizations of eating disorders, it was not until the DSM-III was published in 1980 that an eating disorder section was included. With the addition of clinically recognized eating disorders also came the expansion of counseling services and treatment for disordered eating (Eating Recovery Center, n.d.). Then, the revised DSM-III-R officially listed Bulimia Nervosa (BN) as a distinct and unique disorder, with bingeing as a central feature. In 1994 when the DSM-IV was released, binge eating (without purging or other compensatory measures) was listed under the residual "eating disorder not otherwise specified." However, between the DSM-IV and the DSM-5 many changes were made to the way eating disorders are categorized.

With the newest edition of the DSM, published in 2013 and later revised in 2022, many changes were made with the intention of accurately describing disordered eating and lowering the number of unspecified eating disorders (Lindvall Dahlgren et al., 2017). Previously, there were two primary eating disorder categories (a) Anorexia Nervosa and (b) Bulimia Nervosa. The publication of the DSM-5 included a largely reconstructed chapter for disordered eating; notably, feeding and eating disorders (previously separated) were combined into one chapter making the six primary eating disorders (a) Pica, (b) Rumination Disorder, (c) Avoidant/Restrictive Food Intake Disorder, (d) Anorexia Nervosa, (e) Bulimia Nervosa, and (f) Binge Eating Disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Development of Eating Disorders

Eating disorders are affected by cultural, genetic, neurobiological, and psychological factors which makes understanding their etiology difficult (Cavan & Connan, 2010). Part of the complication in understanding eating disorder etiology is due to the spectrum of symptom manifestation that occurs in the context of disordered or disturbed eating behavior. Furthermore,

changes in the way eating disorders have been classified between DSM-IV and DSM-5 suggest that these disturbances are considered far more variable and varied than they were previously thought (Fairburn & Cooper, 2011). Specifically, anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa are only two among many eating disorders, some of which have not yet been clinically identified. However, the common thread among all currently recognized eating disorders is persistent disturbance in eating behaviors that interferes with ingesting food and impairs physical and psychological health (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Cultural Factors

Cultural context is essential to consider when addressing the development of eating disorders. Specifically, values regarding physical aesthetics are correlated with increased vulnerability to EDs (Miller & Pumariega, 2001). Experts in the field have suggested that abnormal eating habits are reactions to contemporary social norms that idealize thin bodies (Kadish, 2012; Orbach, 1978). Mass media, which often promotes unrealistic expectations about beauty standards has been considered a likely culprit in the development and maintenance of eating disorders (Spettigue & Henderson, 2004). Furthermore, because of the expansion in Western influence, eating disorders are becoming increasingly prevalent within non-Western cultural groups globally (Miller & Pumariega, 2001). The remainder of this section will address the relevant cultural factors that influence the development of eating disorders in the U.S. and globally, in more depth.

Influence of Early Childhood Learning

One theory of eating disorder development suggests that early childhood learning influences the association between food and traumatic experiences (Bale et al., 2010). Two common sources of food related trauma occur through (a) cognitive conditioning that eating

results in undesired weight gain or poor health and/or (b) vicarious learning by observing others who have unhealthy relationships with food. Subsequently, these food related fears often result in high levels of rigidity and cognitive control (Schmidt & Treasure, 2006). The resulting manifestation is perfectionism, conscientiousness, excessive attention to detail, and the use of avoidance strategies to regulate emotion (Aldao et al., 2010; Bardone-Cone et al., 2007; Roberts et al., 2007; Treasure et al., 2012).

Influence of Western "Diet Culture"

Western culture has seen a recent, growing preoccupation with health consciousness labeled "healthism" (Crawford, 1980). The phenomenon is characterized by the belief that the responsibility to maintain health and wellness primarily falls on the individual (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). Subsequently, the pursuit of wellbeing has become an obsession based on the desire to gain control over one's health and avoid blame for illness (McCartney, 2016). Despite the external origin of many health problems, solutions typically target individual behaviors which encourage the belief that self-help is the optimal intervention. This belief is then reified through the abundance of health products and information which are designed to profit off of public preoccupation. Notably, healthism sounds like a relatively harmless and potentially helpful set of behaviors, after all, individuals are asserting agency over their health and wellbeing. However, it becomes problematic in the way in which it can distort public health priorities and heighten health-based anxiety (Greenhalgh & Wessely, 2004).

The recent phenomenon of healthism is largely seen among the Western, middle-class because it relies heavily on disposable income (Crawford, 1980). A major component associated with healthism and dependent on consumerism is the abundance of highly profitable diets.

Furthermore, individuals with disturbed perceptions of how their bodies should look are

particularly vulnerable to fad diets. American advertising is laser focused on the marketing of diets and intentionally exploits the culture's shared values regarding physical aesthetics.

Therefore, healthism is observed primarily in Western culture as opposed to Eastern culture.

However, as western influence permeates the globe, other countries are becoming modernized (Makino et al., 2004). Naturally, as modernization takes place cultural values shift, specifically from collectivism to individual gain.

Influence of Western Global Expansion

Aided by mass media, global audiences are subject to the growing influence of Western industrialized countries and capitalistic forces (Kraidy, 2002). A subtle negative impact of Western expansion is the way American psychopathology manifests domestically and spreads outward around the globe as if it were a virus (Watters, 2011). Subsequently, as more countries are molded to the image of Western culture, there is less differentiation among the expression and manifestation of mental disorders. In essence, the way in which the world develops mental illness is being homogenized.

Although it is tempting to attribute the rise of eating disorder incidence in other countries to the adoption of values in physical aesthetics, research suggests it is due to something else entirely (Makino et al., 2004). One theory of psychological illness is that when someone experiences an emotional trauma they unconsciously express their suffering in a set of symptoms which are culturally acknowledged and accepted (Shorter, 1994). Therefore, it is not the values of the feminine ideal that have influenced the rise in cross-cultural eating disorders, but the awareness of American perceptions of what signals suffering (Watters, 2011).

Influence of Social Media

Perhaps unintentionally, social media has become a platform for cultural change dictated

by its users. One particularly relevant example is the body positivity movement (BPM) which challenges established values associated with physical aesthetics and instead favors inclusivity of all body types (Cwynar-Horta, 2016). The momentum associated with the BPM and newfound preference and acceptance of all body types represents a drastic shift in cultural values driven primarily by social media users. Major media outlets and retailers have responded to BMP by making changes such as utilizing untouched photo campaigns, representing more size and ethnically diverse models, and expanding sizes in clothing lines. Subsequently, social media audiences (including corporations) recognized the potential to capitalize on the BPM and turned it into a commodity. Now the BPM has become another facet of healthism wherein individuals were motivated to take control of their health, in this case mental health and self-love, and the change in values was preyed upon by consumerism. It is likely that orthorexia developed in a similar fashion.

Healthism has had a cascading effect resulting in the explosion of the "wellness industry" (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). Suddenly there is an abundance of professional and amateur health and fitness coaches, web-based health magazines, companies, and blogs, and social media content creators curating inspiration for a wellness-based lifestyle. Now, instead of consulting a health care professional, there is an abundance of health content available instantaneously on the internet to guide individuals in their quest for absolute health.

Genetic Factors

In addition to the various cultural and environmental factors that influence eating disorders, there are several physiological and biological factors potentially influencing their development as well. Some research suggests that heritability is responsible for 59–92% of all eating disorder (Klump et al., 2009). This section will cover the genetic factors which have been

found to play a significant role through twin studies (Easter, 2012; Klump et al., 2009). Among other physiological influences, research points to genetics as a result of family history, genetic variations, and the interaction of genetic and environmental factors to be significantly correlated with the development of eating disorders.

The first genetic influence associated with the development of eating disorders is family history. This was demonstrated through twin and studies and the results suggested that family history was a significant predictor of eating disorder symptoms (Klump et al., 2009).

Specifically, this analysis found that individuals with a family history of eating disorders were at increased risk for developing eating disorders themselves. Individuals with a first-degree relative (such as a parent, sibling, or child) with an eating disorder are at increased risk for developing an eating disorder themselves. For example, one study found that women with a family history of anorexia nervosa were more likely to develop anorexia nervosa themselves, while another study found that women with a family history of bulimia nervosa were at increased risk for developing bulimia nervosa (Keel & Klump, 2003). However, it is important to note that while family history is cited as a predictor for eating disorders, it is not identified as the primary cause of eating disorders (Le Grange et al., 2009). Therefore, it is important to look at other physiological influences of eating disorders.

Genetic variations are another underlying factor that appear to be associated with the development of eating disorders. In relation to eating disorders, several candidate genes have been identified (Easter, 2012). This type of research approach in genetics is typically hypothesis driven and by focusing on specific genes of interest, reduces the need for large-scale genotyping or sequencing. The candidate genes identified as relating to the development of eating disorders include genes that are involved in the regulation of hunger and satiety, mood and stress, and the

serotonergic and dopaminergic systems. Specifically, research has found correlations between eating disorders and (a) genes related to neurotransmitters, including serotonin, norepinephrine, and glutamate, (b) genes related to hunger regulatory systems including leptin, agouti-related peptide (AGRP), melanocyte-stimulating hormone

(a-MSH), the melanocortin-4 receptor (MC4R), neuropeptide Y (NPY), and ghrelin, (c) genes related to feeding motivation and reward systems (opioids, cannabinoids, and dopamine), (d), genes related to systems regulating energy metabolism, (e) genes related to the endocrine system, and (f) genes related to the immune system and inflammatory response (Rask-Andersen et al., 2010). The results of this research suggest that there are at least 43 genes associated with the risk of developing an eating disorder. However, they also highlight the importance of continuing to explore the molecular causes of eating disorders.

One study suggests that the difficulty in identifying the specific genes that are responsible for the onset of eating disorders is that specific genes combined with specific environmental factors can create the "perfect storm" for disordered eating (Culbert et al., 2015). In other words, when certain environmental contexts or experiences interact with a specific genotype risk may be predicted. Studies examining the genetic and environment paradigm have explored several candidate genes (like the ones mentioned previously) with environmental factors including abuse history, parental factors, dieting, and development (Culbert et al., 2015). The findings of these studies suggest that individuals who are biologically vulnerable increase their risk when exposed to certain environmental factors like parenting styles or childhood abuse. However, the limitations of these studies are centered around the fact that they are exploring the genetic and environmental interplay through candidate-gene studies as opposed to genome-wide association studies.

Neurobiological Factors

Another factor that must be explored to understand the development of eating disorders is neurobiology. Neuroimaging studies have identified a number of structural and functional abnormalities in the brains of individuals with eating disorders (Frank, 2019). For example, studies have found that individuals with anorexia nervosa have reduced gray matter volume in certain brain regions involved in self-regulation, emotion processing, and cognitive control (Frank, 2019). Research has also suggested that there may be abnormalities in neurotransmitter systems in the brains of individuals with eating disorders (Bulik et al., 2019). For example, studies have found that individuals with anorexia nervosa have altered levels of the neurotransmitters serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrine, which are involved in mood regulation, reward processing, and appetite control (Friederich et al., 2013). Importantly, these findings are consistent with the findings in the candidate gene studies which suggest vulnerabilities in the neurotransmitter systems.

Imbalances in neurotransmitters such as serotonin, dopamine, and norepinephrine have been shown to play a significant role in the development of eating disorders. These chemicals in the brain help modulate mood, appetite, and reward processing (Kaye et al., 2009). Research suggests that imbalances in neurotransmitters may play a role in the development and maintenance of eating disorders (Wang et al., 2011). Specifically, studies have found that individuals with anorexia nervosa have low levels of serotonin, which is associated with decreased appetite and an increase in anxiety and depression (Frank, 2019: Kaye et al., 2009). Similarly, individuals with bulimia nervosa may have an imbalance in dopamine levels, which could contribute to impulsive behavior and binge eating (Brewerton et al., 1995). Research also suggests that an imbalance in the neurotransmitter norepinephrine may contribute to the

development of binge eating disorder (Hudson et al., 2010). However, the exact role of neurotransmitter imbalances in eating disorders is still being studied and further research is needed to fully understand their impact on these disorders.

The hypothalamus is a key brain region involved in the regulation of hunger and satiety, and research has suggested that dysregulation of this region may contribute to the development of eating disorders (Bulik et al., 2019). Studies have found that individuals with anorexia nervosa have reduced hypothalamic activity in response to food cues, which may contribute to their restrictive eating behaviors (Bulik et al., 2019).

Advancements in technology and methodology are allowing researchers to gain a more nuanced understanding of the neurobiology of eating disorders, and to develop more targeted and effective treatments for these conditions. For example, researchers are currently investigating the use of non-invasive brain stimulation techniques such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) as a potential treatment for anorexia nervosa (Bulik et al., 2019).

Internal Regulatory Systems

One theory suggests the disturbance in eating behavior is maintained through several brain networks and interactions between homeostatic, motivational, and self-regulatory processes (Treasure et al., 2012). The homeostatic system is associated with maintaining a stable internal environment by integrating metabolic markers with outputs from the gastrointestinal system. Essentially, the homeostatic system looks at things like insulin, leptin, peptides, etc. to determine if the body is still hungry, digesting food, or has been satiated. The motivational system creates the desire to eat and registers reward associated with ingesting food. This system exists to make people feel good for eating so that we are motivated to eat again in the future. However,

increased activity in this system is associated with greater likelihood to indulge in overeating (Lopez et al., 2017). Therefore, the self-regulatory system serves to compile information from the homeostatic and motivational systems to ensure we are eating an appropriate amount of food. In order to effectively self-regulate, this system assesses our homeostatic status and controls our desire to eat so that the correct amount of food is ingested. These three systems determine eating behaviors and therefore interference at any level influences the risk, development, and maintenance of disordered eating (Treasure et al., 2012).

Alterations in the HPA Axis Function

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is a complex interplay between the hypothalamus, the pituitary gland, and the adrenal glands, which are involved in the stress response and regulation of various physiological processes in the body. Research has shown that dysregulation of the HPA axis is implicated in the pathophysiology of eating disorders.

One study found that individuals with anorexia nervosa showed evidence of HPA axis dysregulation, including elevated cortisol levels and reduced cortisol suppression in response to dexamethasone, a synthetic glucocorticoid hormone that normally suppresses cortisol production. These abnormalities were more pronounced in individuals with more severe anorexia nervosa symptoms (Bou Khalil et al., 2017). Another study found that individuals with bulimia nervosa showed a blunted cortisol response to stress compared to healthy controls, suggesting HPA axis dysfunction (Bou Khalil et al., 2017). Furthermore, this dysregulation appeared to persist even after recovery from bulimia nervosa (Bou Khalil et al., 2017).

Research has also suggested that HPA axis dysregulation may play a role in the development of binge eating disorder. One study found that individuals with binge eating disorder had higher cortisol levels in response to a stressor compared to healthy controls, and that

these cortisol levels were positively correlated with binge eating severity (Gluck, 2006).

However, the exact nature of the relationship between eating disorders and the HPA axis remains unclear. Some studies have suggested that HPA axis dysregulation may be a consequence of malnutrition and weight loss associated with eating disorders, rather than a causal factor (Cavan & Connan, 2010).

Amygdala, Prefrontal Cortex, and Executive Dysfunction in ED

Research has suggested that the amygdala, a region of the brain that plays a key role in emotional processing, may be involved in the development and maintenance of eating disorders. Studies have shown that individuals with anorexia nervosa have reduced amygdala volume and increased amygdala activity in response to images of food (Kaye et al.; 2009; Zhang et al., 2018). Additionally, research has found that individuals with bulimia nervosa may have increased amygdala activity in response to negative emotional stimuli (Wagner et al., 2010).

One theory is that these changes in the amygdala may contribute to the emotional dysregulation seen in individuals with eating disorders. For example, individuals with anorexia nervosa may experience increased anxiety and fear in response to food cues, which could contribute to their restrictive eating behaviors (Harrison et al., 2010). Similarly, individuals with bulimia nervosa may use binge eating as a way to cope with negative emotions, which could be related to increased amygdala activity in response to negative emotional stimuli (Wagner et al., 2010).

However, the exact role of the amygdala in eating disorders is still being studied, and further research is needed to fully understand its impact on these disorders. Additionally, other regions of the brain, such as the prefrontal cortex and insula, are also thought to play a role in eating disorders and should be further investigated (Lavagnino et al., 2016).

The prefrontal cortex, which is involved in decision-making and self-control, may also play a role in the development and maintenance of eating disorders. Studies have found that individuals with anorexia nervosa have reduced gray matter volume in the prefrontal cortex (Lavagnino et al., 2016) and impaired cognitive flexibility, which is mediated by the prefrontal cortex (Harrison et al., 2010). Additionally, individuals with bulimia nervosa have been found to have decreased prefrontal activation in response to food cues compared to controls (Bohon & Stice, 2012).

One theory is that these changes in the prefrontal cortex may contribute to the difficulties with decision-making and self-control seen in individuals with eating disorders. For example, individuals with anorexia nervosa may have difficulty making choices about food and may engage in rigid, restrictive behaviors due to impaired cognitive flexibility (Harrison et al., 2010). Similarly, individuals with bulimia nervosa may have difficulty regulating their food intake and may engage in impulsive binge eating due to decreased prefrontal activation in response to food cues (Bohon & Stice, 2012).

However, the exact role of the prefrontal cortex in eating disorders is still being studied, and further research is needed to fully understand its impact on these disorders. Additionally, other regions of the brain, such as the amygdala and insula, are also thought to play a role in eating disorders and should be further investigated (Lavagnino et al., 2016).

Relatedly, executive dysfunction refers to the inability to plan, initiate, and maintain goal-directed behaviors, which is a common characteristic of eating disorders. A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies suggests that executive dysfunction is related to abnormal brain activity in several regions of the brain, including the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and insula (Wagner et al., 2010).

Additionally, a hallmark feature of eating disorders is executive dysfunction, which refers to the impaired ability to plan, initiate, and maintain goal-directed behaviors. According to a meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies, executive dysfunction in eating disorders is linked to abnormal brain activity in multiple regions, including the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and insula (Wagner et al., 2010). Further research has demonstrated that individuals with anorexia nervosa exhibit difficulties with set shifting, while those with bulimia nervosa have impaired decision-making abilities, and those with binge eating disorder have a reduced capacity to delay gratification. These cognitive deficits were associated with reduced activation in the prefrontal cortex (Ehrlich et al., 2015; Francis et al., 1999; Geisler et al., 2017).

Overall, the evidence suggests that executive dysfunction is a core aspect of eating disorders, and its association with abnormal prefrontal cortex activity may contribute to the development and maintenance of these disorders.

Inflammation

Research has suggested that inflammation could contribute to the development and persistence of eating disorders. In a study, individuals with anorexia nervosa displayed higher levels of inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 compared to healthy controls. These markers were associated with decreased brain volume in regions responsible for reward processing, including the insula and striatum (Miskowiak et al., 2019). Similarly, patients with bulimia nervosa showed elevated levels of cytokines, which are signaling molecules involved in inflammation, and these were linked to increased anxiety and depression symptoms (Monteleone et al., 2021). Moreover, studies have found that inflammation may also play a role in the co-occurrence of eating disorders with other medical conditions such as type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. For example, in one study, individuals with anorexia nervosa had

higher levels of inflammatory markers and insulin resistance compared to healthy controls (Monteleone et al., 2021). Overall, these findings suggest that inflammation could be a crucial factor in the development and maintenance of eating disorders, as well as their comorbidity with other medical conditions.

CHAPTER IV: ORTHOREXIA

Orthorexia nervosa was defined initially by Bratman as a pathological fixation with healthy eating based on the Greek origins of "ortho" meaning straight or correct, "orexi" meaning appetite, and "nervosa" meaning obsession or fixation (Bratman & Knight, 2000). It was later termed a "lifestyle syndrome" (Hamann et al., 2015) and defined as an obsession with achieving health. Orthorexia nervosa, also referred to as orthorexia, is associated with substantial dietary restrictions, fatal medical conditions related to malnutrition, mood dysregulation, and social isolation (Moroze et al., 2015). Individuals with orthorexia are preoccupied with elaborate meal planning and preparation in an effort to achieve supreme health. As a result, any deviations from adherence to a meticulous diet or movement routine can result in guilt and shame (Bratman & Knight, 2000), feelings of failure, negative self-perception, and anxiety (Hamann et al., 2015). A conscious decision to make healthier choices is followed by rigid dietary and exercise habits which eventually lead to avoidance of entire categories of food and drastic lifestyle changes. Strict dietary modifications hold the potential to interfere with obtaining essential nutrients from food, social and personal relationships, and psychological state (Donini et al., 2004).

Symptoms and Features

While it is not currently included as a diagnostic category in the DSM-5, orthorexia has several hallmark features; (a) obsessional or pathological preoccupation with "healthy" nutrition, (b) distress or anxiety resulting from non-adherence to self-imposed nutritional rules, (c) psychosocial impairments in relevant areas of life, and (d) the potential for malnutrition and secondary weight loss (Cena et al., 2018). There is a significant relationship between anxiety, low self-esteem, and orthorexia (Yilmaz et al., 2022). According to research, orthorexia comes with physical (weight loss, malnutrition), emotional (anxiety, emotional instability), and social

(social isolation, poor quality of life) impairments (Yilmaz et al., 2022). Obsessive-compulsive, mood, eating, and anxiety disorders are common comorbidities, given the overlap in clinical presentation and symptoms. Individuals with orthorexic features fixate on food preparation and quality, and composition of the food is relevant because genetic modifications or excessive amounts of fats, sugar, or salt can have a perceived negative impact on health. Further, because chemicals in the tools used to prepare or store food have the potential to compromise the quality of food, individuals with orthorexia might refuse to consume food not stored in glass containers to reduce contamination from plastics (Biles et al., 1997). To accommodate these concerns, individuals with orthorexia nervosa must set aside a great deal of time for food planning and preparation.

One common thread across disordered eating is perfectionism, and this feature is particularly salient in the case of orthorexia. In this case, perfectionism is a primary factor in the relationship with regard to both food and movement obsessions, and in some research, it is suggested that perfectionism is the strongest predictor of orthorexia (Pratt et al., 2021). Beyond perfectionism, ego, virtue, and morality each play a role in the maintenance of orthorexia (Koven & Abry, 2015; Novara et al., 2021; Pratt et al., 2021) and it is noteworthy that while individuals with other types of eating disorders tend to hide their disorder-related behavior, those with orthorexia display it as a badge of honor or virtue (Koven & Abry, 2015; Scarff, 2017).

The obsessive thought pattern and associated behavioral dietary restrictions are also present relative to physical movement. Excessive exercise is another key feature of orthorexia, and while it is less well-examined than restrictive eating behaviors (Hamann et al., 2015), research demonstrates correlation between excessive exercise and orthorexia symptomatology (Mavrandrea & Gonidakis, 2023; Rudolph, 2018). Despite the fact that physical appearance is

not a primary factor motivating an individual toward orthorexic tendencies, exercise is another way in which an individual may rid their bodies of "toxins."

Current Assessment Tools

As mentioned above, orthorexia nervosa is a relatively new and controversial construct and although it is not currently recognized in any diagnostic categories of the DSM-5 or the ICD-11, it has been garnering attention as a potentially new manifestation of disordered eating. As such, it is essential that there are reliable and valid assessment measures available to identify at-risk individuals as the potential cases of orthorexia continue to emerge. Currently, there are several measures that currently exist to aid in the process of assessing orthorexia nervosa. These measures include, the Bratman Orthorexia Test (BOT), Dusseldorf Orthorexia Scale (DOS), the Eating Habits Questionnaire (EHQ), the ORTO-15, and the Teruel Orthorexia Scale (TOS). The purpose of these measures is to capture the various facets of orthorexia, including the degree of obsession with healthy eating, the impact on quality of life, and the presence of disordered eating behaviors.

Notably, there is still much debate regarding the reliability and validity of these measures and debate about the construct of orthorexia in general (Donini et al., 2022). This lack of agreement on diagnostic criteria and assessment measure hinders research efforts to better understand the construct. Without standardized and validated measures, it becomes difficult to compare findings across studies, which leads to inconsistent results and an unclear understanding of the set of behaviors (Varga et al., 2013). Establishing a clear consensus on diagnostic criteria and assessment measures is essential for the accurate identification and treatment of individuals with orthorexic tendencies. Therefore, it is important for the field to continue working on the

development of assessment measures for orthorexia. The sub-sections that follow will briefly introduce each of the existing measures for orthorexia assessment.

Bratman Orthorexia Test (BOT)

The Bratman Orthorexia Test is a self-report questionnaire developed by the man who coined orthorexia, Steven Bratman. It is a 10-item questionnaire that screens for an individual's preoccupation with healthy eating and the impact that preoccupation has in their daily life as opposed to labeling the behaviors as pathological. The questions are scored on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0 ("never") to 3 ("always") resulting in a score ranging from 0–30 points. Higher scores suggest a greater likelihood that orthorexic tendencies are present.

Dusseldorf Orthorexia Scale (DOS)

The Dusseldorf Orthorexia Scale is a self-report questionnaire designed to assess orthorexic tendencies and address the lack of consensus on diagnostic criteria and assessment measures for the construct. It consists of 10 questions that assess an individual's preoccupation with healthy eating, feelings of anxiety or guilt when consuming "unhealthy" foods, and overall quality of life. Each question is scored on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 4 (strongly agree). Total scores on the DOS can range from 10 to 40 with higher scores indicating a higher likelihood of the presence of orthorexic tendencies.

Eating Habits Questionnaire (EHQ)

The Eating Habits Questionnaire (EHQ) is a measure developed to assess pathological fixation with healthy eating. It is a 21-item self-report measure with three subscales that address (a) problems associated with healthy eating, (b) knowledge of healthy eating, and (c) feeling positively about healthy eating. The authors suggest that the EHQ demonstrates the reliability and

validity needed to use the measure as a way of identifying problematic preoccupations with healthy eating.

ORTO-15

The Test for the Diagnosis of Orthorexia (ORTO-15) is a validated measure used for the diagnosis of orthorexia nervosa. This self-report questionnaire is comprised of 15 items rated on a Likert-like scale ranging from "Always" to "Never" relative to the frequency of orthorexia symptoms. The ORTO-15 demonstrates high identification efficacy and is considered reliable and valid for diagnostic use in detecting orthorexia nervosa (Donini et al., 2004).

Teruel Orthorexia Scale (TOS)

To determine a difference between appropriately healthy eating and pathologically healthy eating the Teruel Orthorexia Scale (TOS) was created (Barthels et al., 2019). A study using the TOS determined a significant difference between healthy eating and pathologically healthy eating. The study identified a major difference between these groups related to dieting motivation. The group of healthy eating was motivated by improving health while the pathological group was motivated by controlling their weight. The authors suggest this finding may be reflective of the idea that desires to control weight may be related to health because excessive weight is correlated with diet-related chronic disease like obesity and diabetes (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). However, the finding is indicative that a pathological obsession with healthy eating may be more similar to the construct of anorexia nervosa than is currently recognized.

Impact of Orthorexic Behaviors

The behavioral aspects of orthorexia can result in significant impairment in physical and mental health, social functioning, and overall functioning. Individuals suffering from orthorexia

nervosa are at an increased risk for malnutrition (Moroze et al., 2015). Strict dietary restrictions can lead to the omission of major food groups leading to inadequate acquisition of essential nutrients. Similar to medical complications associated with anorexia nervosa, orthorexic patients suffering from secondary malnutrition have also been seen to suffer from hyponatremia, metabolic acidosis, subcutaneous emphysema, mediastinal emphysema, pneumothorax, and pancytopenia (Park et al., 2011). AN has been cited as having the highest rate of mortality of any mental illness because of the secondary medical issues that arise from severe food intake restriction (Moskowitz & Weiselberg, 2017).

Although orthorexia nervosa may share similarities with established disorders like anorexia and bulimia, the major difference lies in the underlying motivation of the disorder (Moroze et al., 2015). While anorexia and bulimia are typically motivated by a need to modify or control body size/shape, orthorexia is motivated by pursuing peak health/wellness. Those with orthorexia, however, seem to be fixated on the quality of the food being ingested as opposed to the quantity of the food or their physical appearance as a result of dietary choices.

To accommodate their strict adherence to diet and movement rules, those with orthorexia will set aside significant amounts of time for food preparation, planning, and excessive exercise, which is accompanied by distress, guilt, and shame in the event of any "slip ups" (Scarff, 2017). Relatedly, research shows that orthorexia is correlated with poor identification and regulation of emotions (Vuillier et al., 2020), executive dysfunction (Vuillier et al., 2020), has comorbidities with anxiety, depression, low self-esteem (Koven & Abry, 2015; Vuillier et al., 2020; Yilmaz & Dundar, 2022), and a high degree of symptom overlap with anxiety, depression, and obsessive-compulsive disorders (APA, 2013; APA, 2022).

Cultural Relevance of the Emergence of Orthorexia Nervosa

One view of mental illness asserts that it can manifest as a result of cultural forces as opposed to unconscious or disease entities. Suggesting, the emergence of new psychopathology any time major cultural shift takes place as we have seen with the rise of healthism (Hanganu- Bresch, 2019). If media and society are largely responsible for the onset and maintenance of other eating disorders, it is not unreasonable to suggest they played a part in the newly discovered phenomenon of obsessive fixation with healthy eating. And orthorexia may be just that, a response to messaging that individuals have the power alone to restore themselves to perfect health. However, because orthorexia lacks appropriate diagnostic and clinical application, it is difficult to say with any certainty how significant the condition may be. Without that knowledge, there is no basis for developing successful, tailored treatments when individual symptom presentation differs from the primary eating disorders currently found within the DSM. Therefore, it is essential that scholarly research continue to explore this emerging construct and develop appropriate clinical representation.

Healthy versus Disordered Eating

Orthorexia nervosa suggests there is a point at which healthy eating becomes disordered. Because this concept seems paradoxical in nature it may be worthwhile to explore the boundary of health and pathology. Notably, this task is complicated by the wide range of opinions on what constitutes a healthy diet. However, the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGA) will be used in this study as a baseline (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). Every five years a committee of nutrition experts synthesize current scientific research based on health and nutrition literature to develop dietary recommendations and promote wellness put forth in the DGAs (Tangney et al., 2017). Despite previous trends of

advocating for diets that emphasize a particularly healthful food or condemn a low-quality food item, recent messaging from the DGA support the adoption of dietary patterns that are healthy in a holistic manner. As an example, one study found six common dietary patterns among Americans and determined that among them the lowest body mass indexes and highest nutrient absorption was found among individuals with evenly distributed food sources (Wirfält & Jeffery, 1997). The results suggest dietary patterns favoring balance contribute to positive health outcomes. Further, high-quality diet patterns favoring evenly distributed energy sources have been correlated with reduced risk for diet-related chronic diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and neurodegenerative diseases (Schwingshackl & Hoffmann, 2015). Recent data suggests roughly 117 million American adults have developed one or more diet-related chronic diseases (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). Therefore, the quest to improve health through dietary habits is grounded in realistic concern.

The line between healthy eating to improve wellbeing and pathology is complicated given that dieting has been implicated in both reducing risk for chronic disease and increasing risk for eating disorders (Ambwani et al., 2019). In his book *Health Food Junkies*, Bratman emphasizes the idea that a desire to eat healthy is not pathological, rather when dieting becomes an obsessive pursuit it begins to resemble other eating disorders (Bratman & Knight, 2000).

Others have conceptualized the distinction between healthy and disordered eating may occur when the "solution becomes part of the problem" (Staudacher & Harer, 2018).

Pathological obsession with healthy eating is characterized by major deviations from dietary restrictions resulting in feelings of guilt, fear of becoming ill, or enforcing even more restrictive rules as a compensatory strategy (Depa et al., 2019). Furthermore, social isolation,

distinguishable impairment of quality of life, development of malnutrition, and extreme unintentional weight loss all constitute intimations that pursuits of healthy eating have become pathological.

Clinical Classification of Orthorexia

Given that orthorexia shares features with other disorders beyond those related to feeding and eating, it is important to consider where an orthorexia classification may fit in the diagnostic manual. A study by Levin et al. (2023) evaluated orthorexia relative to eating disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder, obsessive compulsive personality disorder, and health anxiety. Orthorexia was assessed via Eating Habits Questionnaire which evaluates knowledge, behavior, and problems related to eating. Eating disorder symptomatology was assessed via the Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire which evaluates a range of behavior and attitudes related to disordered eating. Obsessive-compulsive disorder was assessed via the Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory Revised which evaluates symptoms of OCD such as hoarding, washing, order, checking, and obsessing. Obsessive-compulsive personality disorder was assessed via the Five Factor Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory-Short Form which evaluates factors of pathology associated with personality disorders. Health anxiety was assessed via the Short Health Anxiety Inventory which measures symptoms of health anxiety independent of health status. Results showed that orthorexia symptoms were most highly correlated with eating disorders, though there was some degree of overlap between the Problems subscale on the EHQ with OCD, OCPD, and health anxiety (Levin et al., 2023). This corroborates findings from prior research which indicate higher levels of orthorexia behavior among those with eating disorders than those with OCD, GAD, or panic disorder (Levin et al., 2023; Strahler & Stark, 2020). Some research also

indicates little to no relationship between orthorexia and OCD, as the correlation disappeared when eating disorder symptoms were controlled for statistically (Levin et al., 2023).

According to Levin et al. (2023), there are potentially three subtypes of orthorexia; first, the ON/ED combined (orthorexia nervosa/eating disorder) subtype which is distinguished by higher scores across ED and ON measures; second, the ON/ED combined without weight/shape concerns subtype which is distinguished by higher OCD and OCPD scores but average health anxiety scores; and third, the ON only subtype which was distinguished by elevations only on measures of orthorexia but not eating disorder measures. The way these subtypes are described may also function as a specifier that can be attached to any existing diagnosis, or as a distinct disorder of its own. A current example of this is the panic attack specifier and panic disorder in the DSM-5 (i.e., diagnosing generalized anxiety disorder with panic attacks versus panic disorder) depending on symptomatology and clinical presentation. Future research should further explore the diagnostic mechanism that may be most effective for capturing orthorexia.

Evolution of Orthorexia Relative to Social Media

Levin et al. (2023) posit that orthorexia symptoms may be an evolution of extant eating disorders which further warrants investigation relative to the cultural and temporal factors driving this evolution or shift. Bhattacharya et al. (2022) state that eating disorders and the attributions made about them vary dependent on social norms. They suggest that orthorexia ought to be understood as a new presentation of anorexia nervosa, driven by diet culture, healthism, and morality related to wellness and consumption (Bhattacharya et al., 2022; Crawford, 1980), which was preceded by the idea that orthorexia is a societal sickness of sorts, rather than an individual disorder (Cheshire et al., 2020). Given that research also demonstrates a positive correlation between orthorexia symptoms and social media use (Tarsitano et al., 2022;

Yucel & Yucel, 2022), it is important to consider the impact of social media and the internet culture on the evolution of disordered eating.

Further supporting the connection between orthorexia and social media culture, it is important to note that current research is beginning to utilize social media as a modality for studying orthorexia. Twitter, Instagram, Facebook, Google Surveys, and other social media/internet sites are being used to conduct research about orthorexia, its emergence and prevalence, and its association with body image issues among social media users and non-users (Donini et al., 2022; Santarossa et al., 2019; Turner & Lefevre, 2017; Valente, Cesuroglu, et al., 2022; Valente, Renckens, et al., 2022; Yucel & Yucel, 2022). The incorporation of social media and internet modalities in research on disordered eating points to the integrated relationship between them, which provides the basis for the following review of orthorexia, social media, and the toxic pursuit of wellness, which are further detailed in the subsequent sections of this manuscript as a primary point of focus.

Social Media

Choukas-Bradley et al. (2022) argued that media, magazines, and television promoted the "perfect storm of catchable body image standards" among women beginning in the 1970s, which was then widely propagated with the advent of the internet and, subsequently, social media.

Social media platforms including Facebook, Instagram, and TikTok have exponentially increased the reach of advertisers and the promotion of messages, images, and ideals. Concurrently, social media allows instant access for users to connect to communities of people with shared interests, share posts about their lives, and seek out information about any conceivable topic or subculture. Social media, now, is the pulse of culture surrounding fitness, diet, and the pursuit of a healthy lifestyle. It is crucial to note that social media now represents a primary cultural factor in the

discussion of orthorexia that did not exist at the time orthorexia was conceptualized. Social media has allowed for the infinite propagation of ideals about body size or shape, health and wellness, beauty standards, diets and exercise routines, and provides structure for people to share publicly about their successes and failures relative to their health goals. As noted previously, at surface level, encouragement of health and wellness are not inherently toxic; the toxicity comes when unrealistic ideals, messages, and images are widely spread and impact consumer's behavior to the degree that it jeopardizes their actual health and wellness, both mentally and physically.

As an example of the social media culture surrounding fitness, Norton (2017) described the amalgamation "fitspiration" which combines "fitness" and "inspiration" and serves to "inspire" people to achieve their goals related to physical health. This subgenre of social media content is filled with hashtags for easy access to images about body goals and ideals, beauty standards, lifestyle "hacks" for workouts and diets, as well as vaguely shaming messages about diet and exercise (Norton, 2017). Content creators develop guides for consumers of how to achieve the "perfect body," how to restrict calories in the most effective manner, and how to exercise to produce an ideal physique (Norton, 2017). This is accompanied by pressure, shame, guilt, disappointment, eating disorders, and negative body image for consumers who are unable to attain the ideal physical form dictated by social media (Ambwani et al., 2019; Norton, 2017). Instagram, in particular, is implicated in the prevalence of orthorexia (Turner & Lefevre, 2017). Given that, at the time of publication, Instagram had over 500 million users, this is a significant proportion of the population who are at risk for being affected (Turner & Lefevre, 2017). Hashtags for fitness, food, beauty, and motivation are all in the top 50 most popular or highly searched terms for Instagram (Top Hashtags, n.d.), and lifestyle, healthy, fit, inspiration, and

workout are in the top 100 most searched, all of which have hundreds of millions of views to date. This does not begin to address advertisements for fitness products, diet supplements or guides, or applications/services to "keep you on track" with your fitness goals. To hone on some of the toxicity present in this community, a few examples are provided. As noted previously, there are applications aimed at helping individuals to restrict their eating behavior (West-Knights, 2020) which are widely advertised on Instagram and Tik Tok, as well as dangerous, pro-anorexic content and "pro-ana" hashtags that help users find ways to be "better" at restricting food, exercising excessively, and sharing their "progress" with other users (Norton, 2017; West-Knights, 2020). A further examination of fitspiration media reveals perpetuation of fatphobia, sexual objectification of women, and providing motivational content only for the sake of physical appearance, rather than health or wellness (Norton, 2017). The pervasive ideal of overly thin bodies prevails on social media, with constant encouragement, particularly for women, to be smaller, skinnier, and striving for a "toned" physique. It is estimated that upward of 90% of women and 80% of men report body dissatisfaction (Aziz, 2017). Likely attributable to the tendency for social comparison, this dissatisfaction can result in low self-esteem, body monitoring, disordered eating, and excessive exercise (Aziz, 2017). These concerns are largely reminiscent of what is observed in orthorexia. Given that an approximate 85% of teens have smartphone access (Aziz, 2017) and that social media access is a known contributor to the development of body dysmorphia and other body-image concerns in the adolescent population (Singla et al., 2020), this has a salient impact for individuals even before reaching adulthood.

Revisiting healthism, social media has had a significant impact on its generation as well, which has resulted in the emergence and surge of the wellness industry (Hanganu-Bresch, 2020). Regardless of credentialing or legitimacy, you can find an abundance of fitness coaches,

"experts" on diet and exercise, health bloggers, content creators, fitness models, and "lifestyle gurus" via social media who have capitalized on this toxic pursuit of wellness. Instead of consulting healthcare professionals, therapists, dietitians, or certified personal trainers, people can access "health and wellness" information instantly from their phones. It is no surprise, then, that orthorexia has had a similar spike in prevalence in recent years in the U.S. It is important to note that this manuscript focuses primarily on Western, U.S. society at present. However, it is important to also recognize the impact of orthorexia and the toxic pursuit of wellness worldwide, particularly given the role of social media in spreading information internationally in the click of a button.

Aided by mass media, global audiences are subject to the growing influence of Western countries and capitalistic forces (Kraidy, 2002). Western, especially American, psychopathology is demonstrated to have a global influence (Watters, 2011). The expression of mental disorders (i.e., depression, anxiety, disordered eating, etc.) have demonstrated less differentiation across cultures in recent years; in essence, the way in which the world develops mental illness is trending toward homogeneity (Watters, 2011). Relatedly, while it is tempting to attribute the rise of eating disorders worldwide to the adoption of Western beauty ideals, research suggests it may be due to something else entirely (Makino et al., 2004). When someone experiences an emotional trauma, they express their symptoms in a culturally acknowledged and accepted manner (Shorter, 1994) so it is possible that the American signals of suffering (i.e., increased eating disorder behaviors) are promoting the manifestation of these symptoms across the globe.

The Toxic Pursuit of Wellness

As noted previously, Western culture has seen a recent, growing preoccupation with health consciousness labeled "healthism" (Crawford, 1980). This phenomenon is characterized

by the belief that the responsibility to maintain health and wellness primarily falls on the individual (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). Subsequently, the pursuit of wellbeing has become an obsession based on the desire to gain control over one's health and avoid blame for illness (McCartney, 2016). Despite the external origin of many health problems, solutions typically target individual behaviors which encourage the belief that self-help is the optimal intervention. This belief is then reified through the abundance of health products and information which are designed to profit off of public preoccupation. Notably, healthism sounds like a relatively harmless and potentially helpful set of behaviors, after all, individuals are asserting agency over their health and wellbeing. However, it becomes problematic in the way in which it can distort public health priorities and heighten health-based anxiety (Greenhalgh & Wessely, 2004).

The recent emergence of healthism is largely seen among the Western, middle-class because it relies heavily on disposable income (Crawford, 1980). A major component associated with healthism and dependent on consumerism is the abundance of highly profitable diet programs. Furthermore, individuals with disturbed perceptions of how their bodies should look are particularly vulnerable to fad diets. American advertising is laser focused in the marketing of diets and intentionally exploits the culture's shared values regarding physical aesthetics.

Therefore, healthism is observed primarily in Western culture as opposed to Eastern culture, though there is a permeation of Western influence which is observed globally, shifting cultural values toward individuality (Makino et al., 2004). Moreover, there is a great deal of research examining how body image concerns are influenced by contextual and cultural factors (Lamarche et al., 2018), as well as the relation to body dissatisfaction, self-objectification, and development of eating disorder symptoms. Interestingly, the tone and source of messaging about body ideals significantly impacts the way it is received; for example, fitness-oriented media

results in body dissatisfaction, while beauty-oriented media results in eating disorder symptoms (Lamarche et al., 2018; Moradi & Huang, 2008). Research also shows maladaptive coping strategies to deal with body image concerns including comparison to others, bad internal feelings/poor view of self, using substances, social isolation, and attempts to alter appearance through use of supplements, diets, or excessive exercise (Lamarche et al., 2018).

Diet Culture

Because this concept seems paradoxical in nature it may be worthwhile to explore the boundary of health and pathology. Notably, this task is complicated by the wide range of opinions on what constitutes a healthy diet or lifestyle. However, the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGA) will be used in this study as a baseline (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). Every five years a committee of nutrition experts synthesize current scientific research based on health and nutrition literature to develop dietary recommendations and promote wellness put forth in the DGAs (Tangney et al., 2017). Despite previous trends of advocating for diets that emphasize a particularly healthful food or condemn a low-quality food item, recent messaging from the DGA support the adoption of dietary patterns that are healthy in a holistic manner. As an example, one study found six common dietary patterns among Americans and determined that among them the lowest body mass indexes and highest nutrient absorption was found among individuals with evenly distributed food sources (Wirfält & Jeffery, 1997). The results suggest dietary patterns favoring balance contribute to positive health outcomes. Further, high-quality diet patterns favoring evenly distributed energy sources have been correlated with reduced risk for diet-related chronic diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and neurodegenerative diseases (Schwingshackl & Hoffmann, 2015). Recent data suggests roughly 117 million American adults have developed one or more diet-related chronic diseases (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015). Therefore, the quest to improve health through dietary habits is grounded in realistic concern.

The line between healthy eating to improve wellbeing and pathology is complicated given that dieting has been implicated in both reducing risk for chronic disease and increasing risk for eating disorders (Ambwani et al., 2019). In his book *Health Food Junkies*, Bratman emphasizes the idea that a desire to eat healthy is not pathological, rather when dieting becomes an obsessive pursuit it begins to resemble other eating disorders (Bratman & Knight, 2000).

Others have conceptualized the distinction between healthy and disordered eating may occur when the "solution becomes part of the problem" (Staudacher & Harer, 2018).

Pathological obsession with healthy eating is characterized by major deviations from dietary restrictions resulting in feelings of guilt, fear of becoming ill, or enforcing even more restrictive rules as a compensatory strategy (Depa et al., 2019). Furthermore, social isolation, distinguishable impairment of quality of life, development of malnutrition, and extreme unintentional weight loss all constitute intimations that pursuits of healthy eating have become pathological.

At present, there are several diet trends that are commonly touted as the key to achieving health, fitness, and the ideal body. While intermittent fasting, known as caloric restriction or time-restricted feeding, shows promise in animal trials for reducing some health risks, it has not been sufficiently investigated in humans (Mattson & Wan, 2005; Stockman et al., 2018), but is flooding advertisements, media, and social media as a safe, healthy way to achieve your weight goals. There are mobile phone applications, social media sites, forums, and communities aimed to "help you stop eating" (West-Knights, 2020). The keto diet, which aims to put the body into a

fat-burning ketosis state, comes with risks of increased cholesterol, kidney problems, and cardiovascular problems, and is not recommended for long-term use (Agusala, 2022). Yet, the "keto-friendly" label can be found across media, and at the grocery store on anything ranging from snack foods to fast food items, to beverages, with the intent of making this diet accessible and increasing adherence. Similarly, plans like the paleo diet and Whole30 are highly restrictive, touting a "body reset" that will help you achieve your wellness goals; however, these diets deprive the body of essential nutrients by cutting out entire groups of food (Agusala, 2022). While not in the realm of a fad diet, adherence to a vegan diet is increasingly popular and, interestingly, associated with increased orthorexic behaviors when compared to non-vegans (Barthels et al., 2019). Of particular relevance for orthorexia is the accompaniment of moral and ethical factors in the selection of a vegan diet, as well as the rigidity surrounding strict adherence to the as these are further associated with obsessive orthorexic patterns (McComb & Mills, 2019).

Workout Culture

Dietary behavior in orthorexia is accompanied by an obsession with exercise (Hanganu- Bresch, 2019). Distinguishing "thin" from "healthy" within Western culture is a nuance deeply rooted in healthism and orthorexia and may, in fact, be indiscernible (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). Mass media, popular culture, and social media have further perpetuated narratives around ideal body size, shape, and what constitutes a "healthy" body. The fashion and entertainment industries are linked to the development of eating disorders due to the use of excessively thin actors and models, messages such as "healthy is the new thin," and the conflation of body size/thinness and health (Hanganu-Bresch, 2019). Physical fitness and a "perfect" body are equated with success and health (Corazza et al., 2019), particularly in modern

Western culture. The development of narratives and phrases as "Train. Eat. Sleep. Repeat." and "no pain, no gain" are shared as goals or inspirations for which to strive. This culture of promoting physical fitness, working out, and chasing an ideal body give rise to a variety of issues such as obsessive thought patterns, body dysmorphia, poor self-esteem, malnutrition or poor diet, substance use or abuse, eating disorders, and exercise addiction (Corazza et al., 2019). All of these are, arguably, not in the service of overall wellness or health, which is the foundational issue driving the focus on physical fitness. This paradox amounts to "too much of a good thing" resulting in, in fact, poorer health.

Literature on fitness and "workout culture" reveals the sinister nature of what appears, at a surface level, to be a supportive culture aimed to improve wellness (Norton, 2017).

Compulsive exercise was described as early as the 1970s and is characterized by a "craving" for physical training and excessive exercise behavior with harmful consequences including injury and impaired social functioning (Lichtenstein et al., 2017). Compulsive exercise behavior is associated with perfectionism, disordered eating behavior, neuroticism, narcissism, and obsessive-compulsive features, as well as depression and low social interaction (Lichtenstein et al., 2017). The expansive fitness culture has contributed to the emergence of obsessive and excessive exercise, as well as a toxic mindset that, behaviorally, appears much like an addiction (Corazza et al., 2019; Lichtenstein et al., 2017). Fitness and exercise behaviors exist on a continuum, as most behaviors do, ranging from healthy to pathological, but the promotion of toxic workout culture has perpetuated narratives that drive the pathological pursuit of a "perfect" physical body (Corazza et al., 2017; Norton, 2017; Lichtenstein et al., 2017).

Orthorexia and the Toxic Pursuit of Wellness

When well-intentioned behaviors become excessive to the point of impairment, obsessive, or harmful, they land squarely in the realm of a mental health condition. In this case, orthorexia is the result of striving too hard for health, at the expense of actual mental, physical, and emotional wellbeing. This is unique when compared to other mental health conditions; for example, with anorexia and bulimia, health and wellness are often not the primary precedents to behavior, and in obsessive-compulsive disorder, compulsive behaviors are sometimes driven by irrational thought processes (APA, 2013). Orthorexia is accompanied by rigidity, guilt, shame, and anxiety that further drive behavior, and are additionally moderated by a sense of morality, virtue, or pride which provide reward and reinforcement for adherence to orthorexia behaviors. The emergence of diet culture, workout culture, "fitspiration," narratives such as "rise and grind" or "no days off," and one-size-fits-all approaches to diet and exercise have advanced the development of orthorexia in recent years. This is particularly true due to the important cultural factor of social media, which gave rise to increased and instant access to messages, images, communities, information and misinformation, and promotion and spread of ideals that serve the toxic pursuit of wellness and, ultimately, orthorexia.

CHAPTER V: DIAGNOSTIC CLASSIFICATION

Classifications of mental disorder serve to capture a summary of knowledge the field of Psychology holds on a particular mental disorder (Sartorius, 2015). Yet, the classification system does not serve as a simple catalogue designed to avoid disorganization. *The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* exists as a tool to assist clinicians in communicating about all variables of their discipline in an efficient, standardized manner (Gordon et al., 2017). *The Oxford Handbook of Eating Disorders* describes the classification system within the DSM as synonymous with "Mendeleev's periodic table of elements for the field of chemistry: theoretically driven, parsimonious, and instrumental for scientific growth." The psychological classification system, however, is not without its limitations. The role of diagnosis in the mental health field continues to be a point of debate. We first examine a brief history of diagnosis in psychology and psychiatry, and then present discussion of the benefits and drawbacks of the construct of diagnosing.

Classification of mental health symptoms dates back to the 1840s when the Brigham System was developed based on observation of mental and physical behavior with the goal of identifying the underlying cause of an illness (Ghaemi, 2009). Brigham believed that mental illness was rooted in physical or environmental, rather than moral as was previously thought, and advocated for fair, scientific approaches to treatment for those with mental illness (Ghaemi, 2009). Shortly after, in the 1880s, Kraeplin published the Compendium der Psychiatrie which conceptualized schizophrenia for the first time and helped to establish the framework for the future of diagnostic classification of mental illnesses (Micale, 1997). Kraeplin, too, advocated for science as the basis of diagnosing, rather than judgments regarding perceived moral failures, aiming to identify biological underpinnings of mental health symptoms (Micale, 1997). By the

1950s, the American Psychiatric Association published the first iteration of the DSM, which is now in its fifth edition and was revised in 2022 (APA, 1952; APA, 1968; APA, 1980; APA, 1994; APA 2013; APA, 2022).

The DSM is the most commonly used diagnostic manual among mental health providers (APA, 2013; Kupfer, 2013; Ruscio, 2019). Research shows that the DSM has good interrater reliability (Gunderson et al., 2011) and predictive validity (APA, 2013), allows for the standardization of diagnostic criteria to facilitate comparison in empirical studies, and provides a useful clinical framework that facilitates communication, decision-making, and shared understanding across clinical settings and mental health professionals to better serve their patients.

Clinical Utility of the Classification System

Valid categories of pathology are essential because the classification system defining disorders typically influences the development and efficacy of treatment (Wonderlich et al., 2007). Clinicians are disadvantaged if they are serving a large number of clients who do not fit within clearly defined diagnostic categories but are nonetheless suffering. Specifically, their disadvantage relates to poor clinical utility associated with unspecified diagnoses due to scarce research and limited understanding. Conversely, the process of continually organizing and cataloging the growing knowledge base contributes to increased understanding and predictability. Therefore, as the number of diagnoses in other and unspecified categories increases, so does the need to collect research and data relating to those pathologies. The process of continually organizing knowledge contributes to increased understanding and predictability. Historically, as the evidence-base and knowledge of the origin, nature, and course of a disorder accumulates, revisions have been made to reflect necessary changes as evidenced by the

continually evolving DSM (Sartorius, 2015). In some cases, changes are made to reflect updated information about diagnoses and symptoms, or to move from categorizing to capturing behavior on a spectrum (i.e., autism spectrum disorder in the DSM-5).

Concerns with the Diagnostic Classification System

Despite its boasts, research also documents criticisms of the DSM and its utility. Criticisms of the DSM include an overemphasis on biological factors rather than social and behavioral (Kraemer, 2015), heavy reliance on categorical diagnoses which may oversimplify mental health disorders (Cuthbert & Insel, 2013; Kotov et al., 2017), poor categorization of personality disorders (Krueger & Eaton, 2010), and influence from pharmaceutical companies (Cosgrove & Krimsky, 2012; Greenberg, 2013).

Psychology was born in the modern era wherein "reason triumphed beliefs" (Lane, 2013). A primary objective of psychology was to create a platform that the "reasonable" could classify others as "unreasonable" and confine them to asylums. Foucault (1975) described this socially constructed power differential as "the great confinement" in which those with power involuntarily confined the abnormal and in effect stripped them of their basic liberties. His conceptualization of the modern classification system presents a powerful consideration.

Although diagnostic criteria are currently considered a tool to enhance communication between clinicians and capture what is known about a particular construct, on a basic level they are used to classify and contain people. Furthermore, the classifications of psychological disorders are based on subjective symptoms, manifestations, and behaviors (Venigalla et al., 2017). What this means is the presence of biomarkers to confirm the presence of psychological disorders are largely absent. Oftentimes individuals can be under- or over-diagnosed because there are not sufficient biological tests available to aid the diagnostic process. The DSM then,

serves as a consensus of expert opinions based on research as opposed to scientific proof supported by biological evidence (Lane, 2013). Despite best efforts to practice without bias, it is difficult to subjectively define what is "normal" because human behavior is mediated by context, culture, and society (Lane, 2013). What is "abnormal" in one setting might be completely reasonable in another. Therefore, clinical focus often shifts to assessing presence of symptoms and functionality (Üstün & Kennedy, 2009). When considering a disorder, clinicians often try to determine if a behavior is causing excessive distress to the individual or those close to them. However, this line of inquiry presents a similar problem since the answer is highly dependent on a subjective level of tolerability.

Beyond the DSM itself, the process and construct of diagnosis remains debated in Western culture. What follows is information about the benefits and drawbacks of having a diagnostic construct and its impact for patients and providers. Diagnosis provides a shared language for clinicians and researchers to communicate about symptoms and treatments (Widiger & Clark, 2000) and diagnostic criteria can help to facilitate early detection and intervention for those with mental health conditions (Regier et al., 2013). By accurately describing sets of symptoms or behaviors, mental health providers can better understand, investigate, and treat the problems that are causing impairment in their patients which ultimately aligns with the goal of improved mental health. This also facilitates effective coordination of care across medical and mental health settings, which leads to increased efficacy of treatment planning and better patient outcomes (Jeste et al., 2005). Relatedly, having a diagnostic system is assistive in screening for and identifying comorbid conditions which promotes comprehensive treatment (Clark et al., 2017). Diagnostic criteria also reduce the potential for bias by having an objective framework for assessing symptoms (Bayer & Spitzer, 1985). Categorization of mental

health disorders, such as the framework found in the current iteration of the DSM, allows for research on treatments, interventions, and increased understanding of mental health disorders, particularly because it provides a set of common language with which to describe constellations of symptoms (APA, 2013; APA, 2022).

For patients, having a diagnosed condition can increase access to treatment, resources, and accommodations to support their symptoms and improve their quality of life (Rashid, 2015). Additionally, diagnoses can help families and loved ones of a patient understand their condition to provide support, and also facilitates the option for insurance coverage of mental health treatment which increases accessibility for treatment for those who may not otherwise be able to afford it (Blanco et al., 2013). Another benefit to diagnosing is increased self-awareness and self-advocacy for patients; when individuals better understand their needs, they are able to better communicate them to others including healthcare providers (Jeste et al., 2020). Research shows that diagnosing can empower patients to take control of their mental health and to seek out the necessary support (Rashid, 2015). Research also states that diagnosis can help to reduce stigma associated with mental illness by providing a medical explanation for symptoms and behavior (Salkovskis & Bass, 1997), however, this remains a centralized debate in the field.

Thomas Szasz' *The Myth of Mental Illness*, (1961) is a controversial book that challenges the construct of diagnosis and even of mental illness. Szasz argues that mental health problems are not medical conditions, but a set of metaphorical labels applied to individuals who engage in behavior that is deemed undesirable or unacceptable by societal standards. He further states that psychiatry, and the diagnosis and treatment of mental illness, are used primarily as a form of social control rather than medical care. This perspective is rooted in the idea that mental health concerns are constructed concepts that are not true illnesses and therefore cannot be objectively

defined or diagnosed, likening it to the labeling of witches in medieval Europe. Szasz also argues that mental illness is a product of societal medicalization and subsequently the pathologizing of normal human behavior. Similar to the concepts outlined previously about Healthism, Szasz suggests that medicalization is a means of distracting from systemic problems and instead blaming individuals for their symptoms. If symptoms were to be viewed as a fault of the individual society is alleviated of its responsibility to address issues like poverty, inequality, and social injustice. His critiques of the current system of psychological diagnostics and medicalization highlights an important inquiry about the validity of our labeling approach; perhaps the manifestations of mental illnesses are products of social and cultural factors.

Viewing this through a social constructionist lens, it may be that all manifestations of mental distress suggest something much deeper is misaligned. It is also helpful to highlight Ellenberger's (1970) book *The Discovery of the Unconscious*, in the discussion of the construct of diagnosis. Ellenberger posited that the unconscious is shaped by the cultural context from which it emerges. Specifically, cultural factors shape the experience and understanding of mental health and mental illness (Ellenberger, 1970). This further demonstrates the need to approach clinical practice from a culturally informed and competent space; to examine symptoms outside the context in which they are housed is insufficient and cannot truly support the patient as effectively.

Diagnostics and Orthorexia

Maintaining in mind the benefits and drawbacks to diagnosing and returning to the specific discussion at hand with orthorexia and disordered eating, diagnosing eating disorders can have both positive and negative impacts. Research suggests that diagnosing eating disorders can have both positive and negative consequences. One of the benefits of diagnosing eating

disorders is that it can help individuals receive proper treatment and support, leading to improved outcomes (Wade et al., 2017). Early diagnosis and intervention can prevent further complications and improve the chances of recovery (Jenkins et al., 2015). Furthermore, diagnosis can also increase awareness of eating disorders and reduce stigma, leading to more public funding and research (Favaro et al., 2018). However, there are also potential negative consequences associated with diagnosing eating disorders. For example, diagnosis can result in individuals being stigmatized and discriminated against (Favaro et al., 2018). In addition, some individuals may be hesitant to seek treatment or disclose their symptoms due to the fear of being labeled with a mental health disorder (Schaumberg et al., 2017). Furthermore, the diagnostic criteria for eating disorders have been criticized for being too narrow and potentially excluding individuals who do not meet the specific criteria (Hay et al., 2008). It is also important to consider the potential misdiagnosis of eating disorders. Research has shown that eating disorders can often co-occur with other mental health disorders such as depression and anxiety, which can lead to incorrect diagnoses and ineffective treatment (Mehler & Brown, 2015). Additionally, eating disorders can present differently among different populations, such as men or individuals from diverse cultural backgrounds, which can lead to underdiagnosis or misdiagnosis (Udo & Grilo, 2018). While diagnosing eating disorders has positively impacted early intervention and increased awareness, it also presents the opportunity for stigma and misdiagnosis.

The field of psychology is relatively young, and it is still worthwhile to continue research inquiries about improving the diagnostic process. Although the current diagnostic classification system is considered, by some, to be problematic in nature, it does benefit people. By having an organized classification system, clinicians are better able to facilitate communication, implement effective interventions, and predict outcomes (Evans et al., 2013). Therefore, as the diagnostic

classification system continues to evolve over time, the focus should remain on clinical utility of the model currently in use, and how clinicians can use the existing model to benefit people and make positive changes.

CHAPTER VI: SOCIAL MEDIA

The term "social media" was used originally in 1994 in reference to a Tokyo media platform called Matisse (Aichner et al., 2021). Since that time, social media platforms and their utilization has rapidly expanded (Aichner et al., 2021). Socializing with friends and family, dating and relationship-seeking, professional networking, interacting with brands, companies, and businesses, and retail commerce are primary uses for social media (Aichner et al., 2021) as well as engagement with health information (Niu et al., 2021). The rapid growth of social media parallels the timeline of the emergence of healthism (1970s onward; Crawford, 1980), health technologies (1990s onward; Stevens et al., 2003) and orthorexia as a construct (1990s onward; Bratman, 1997). Interestingly, weight stigma and fat phobia has dramatically increased along this same timeline (1990s onward; Clark et al., 2017), as well as body image dissatisfaction and other mental health issues related to weight, body, and health. Similarly, prevalence of eating disorders has also steadily increased since the 1990s (Galmiche et al., 2019). These factors represent an important intersection relative to orthorexia.

Social media represents an important dichotomy with relation to healthism and orthorexia. Given that social media utilization can support increased health literacy, health access, and belongingness, as well as decrease stigma and barriers to healthcare, it represents a significant positive force relative to mental and physical health. Conversely, there is ample evidence across literature of the negative implications of social media usage on body image, self-esteem, self-efficacy, and mental health including increased risks of depression, anxiety, disordered eating, and trauma.

Yilmazel et al. (2022) found a significant positive correlation between social media use and orthorexic tendencies, and Perloff (2014) found that social media creates a competitive,

comparative culture that promotes disordered eating and negative body image that can be particularly impactful for those with orthorexic tendencies. Research specifically on Instagram, a primarily visual medium, shows that the idealization of diet and exercise behavior, food, and bodies contributes to the development of orthorexia (Turner & Lefevre, 2017). The comparative nature of engagement on social media also has a negative impact on mood (Fardouly et al., 2015). Perfectionism, restrictive eating behaviors, self-objectification, negative self-evaluation, and excessive exercise are all behaviors associated with social media use due to comparative and idealistic content (Perloff, 2014; Tiggemann et al., 2014; Turner & Lefevre, 2017). These findings suggest that social media usage poses a risk to mental health and wellbeing. Revisiting healthism and its tenets, it could be argued that social media engagement is harmful, to some degree, which is directly in opposition to the ideals of "health" prescribed by the culture of healthism. This is an insidious process; in an effort to learn, engage, or build community via social media, consumers place themselves at an additional risk for the development or perpetuation of orthorexia and related mental and physical health concerns. Therein lies the toxicity of the pursuit of wellness. Ostic et al. (2021), however, suggest that the overall impact of social media on psychological well-being is positive, despite the negative risks. It is important, then, to examine the mechanisms by which engagement with social media becomes harmful rather than helpful, specifically with regard to disordered eating.

Social media has also emerged as a research landscape. A study by Valente et al. (2022) utilized Twitter and Instagram hashtags to explore orthorexia and found that those who spent more time scrolling through their feed and interacting with posts were more likely to experience anxiety, depression, and negative body image. The study also found that users who followed more fitness and health-related accounts tended to have more positive body image and mental

health outcomes. Other research in this area has investigated the impact of social media on social comparison, self-esteem, and social support. Studies have found that social media can lead to negative social comparison and decreased self-esteem but can also provide social support and a sense of community for certain individuals. Overall, psychological research using social media has provided insight into the complex relationship between online platforms and mental health outcomes. It suggests that while social media can have both positive and negative effects, it is important to use these platforms in a mindful and intentional way to promote well-being.

Similarly, social media, for patients and providers alike, boasts a variety of benefits; it is even argued that it can help facilitate clinical excellence (Batt-Rawden et al., 2014). From a clinician perspective, social media can promote knowledge-acquisition, skill-building, and exposure to examples of patient care (Walsh et al., 2021). Social media is increasingly present in medical education (Cheston et al., 2013; Hollinderbäumer et al., 2013; Walsh et al., 2021) as well as promoting connectivity between medical providers, and widely sharing access to valuable resources (Walsh et al., 2021).

Historical Context of Social Media

In an effort to provide a comprehensive investigation of the impact of social media on the emergence and maintenance of orthorexia, it is important to examine the history of social media and its broader cultural relevance. In the 1980s, shortly following the development of the internet as a communication tool, the U.S. saw the emergence of several systems that shaped what we now know as social media (boyd & Ellison, 2007; Goggin, 2017; Jones, 2010; Marwick & boyd, 2014). America Online (AOL) launched a mainstream social media platform in 1985; this included email, chat rooms, and message boards that became popularized during the 1990s and early 2000s (boyd & Ellison, 2007; Goggin, 2017; Jones, 2010: Marwick & boyd, 2014).

Friendster, MySpace, Facebook, and Twitter followed close behind as they emerged in the early 2000s, each boasting unique features for sharing content including videos, photos, and music, networking, and information (Jones, 2010; Goggin, 2017; boyd & Ellison, 2007; Marwick & boyd, 2014). More recently, in 2010, Instagram emerged and quickly rose to significant popularity as a social media platform based primarily on sharing visual content via photos, and shortly after, in 2016, TikTok was founded to allow users to share brief video content (Goggin, 2017). These platforms are best known for social networking and sharing content with friends, family, and followers, but also hold much broader sociocultural context at present.

Informal Dissemination of Medical Information & Self Diagnosis

The development of social media has impacted society on a monumental scale in terms of increasing accessibility, connection, and social interactions, but these benefits also brought about several concerns that are notable and worth discussion. Among the most relevant for the present discussion on orthorexia are the negative impact to mental health and the spread of misinformation facilitated by social media. Social media platforms have seen criticism for the structure they provide for self-diagnosis among consumers (Hampton et al., 2011). It is estimated that up to 35% of social media users are utilizing these platforms to seek out information about and self-diagnose medical and mental health conditions, and an almost half of users report accessing social media to confirm a diagnosis they received from a healthcare provider (Nur –A Yazdani et al., 2022). The idea of "getting a second opinion" is commonplace in medical communities, and usually consists of seeking out another qualified practitioner to appropriately assess, diagnose, and treat a condition; however, social media has provided a structure for patients to seek this out via influencers, forums, promoted ad content, and a group of peers who are, arguably, likely not equipped to appropriately provide a confirmatory diagnosis. This

presents a major problem for clinicians and patients. Patients who use social media to learn about, self-diagnose, or confirm/rule-out a diagnosis are at risk of acting based on misinformation which could inadvertently cause harm. Smailhodzic et al. (2016) found that nearly 60% of health-related posts on Twitter contained inaccurate or scientifically unsupported information. This means that, more likely than not, patients using Twitter and similar platforms to seek out medical information are receiving false information about their health. One primary problem this creates is delayed treatment for medical concerns. Friedman et al. (2015) noted that those who utilized the internet to seek out health information were more likely to delay seeking medical attention regardless of symptom severity. Among the possible outcomes for this scenario are worsened health outcomes and missed opportunities for early intervention of treatable conditions (Thomas et al., 2016). In addition to the potential harm of self-diagnosis, using social media to seek out health-related information is associated with increased anxiety, particularly among those who already experience existing mental health conditions (Yue et al., 2023). This anxiety can perpetuate medical avoidance and result, too, in poorer health outcomes even when treatment is available. Another problem resulting from use of social media and other online platforms is the potential for overdiagnosis and overtreatment, in which individuals are unnecessarily treated for conditions they have diagnosed based on information from social media (Semigran et al., 2015). This has been an increasingly relevant problem with regard to mental health and neurodevelopmental conditions. This is an important point in situating orthorexia within the current cultural context and is considered further below.

The Rise of Self-Diagnosis

Per the APA, conditions that have received media attention have been increasingly self-diagnosed in recent years (APA, 2021). Both attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder

(ADHD) and autism spectrum disorder (ASD) are commonly being self-diagnosed based on information shared via social media (APA, 2021). Social media, specifically TikTok due to its structure of short, engaging video content, provides scaffolding for individuals to share about their symptoms, experiences, connect with others who have similar experiences, and find validation or belonging with a group based on shared lived experience (Clemow & Walker, 2014) which is, in some ways, similar to a digital support group and at surface level sounds innocuous at worst and helpful at best. In reality, however, because of the aforementioned propensity toward the sharing of misinformation (Smailhodzic et al., 2020), social media is more likely to perpetuate myths, falsified or incorrect data, and inaccurate information about the symptoms of a given disorder (APA, 2021). Per the APA, self-diagnosis of neurodevelopmental conditions such as ADHD and ASD can be inaccurate and, at times, harmful or dangerous (APA, 2021). This is particularly true with regard to seeking out treatments or interventions, as inaccurate self-diagnosis can lead to inaccurate or unsafe self-intervention and delayed treatment seeking from a legitimate source.

The APA urges social media users who suspect they have a mental health condition to follow up with an appropriately credentialed professional in order to properly evaluate and treat whatever condition may be present (APA, 2021). With autism specifically, self-diagnosis is problematic and potentially harmful because of misinformation, improper treatment or delayed treatment, and the potential for increased stigmatization of individuals who actually experience the disorder (Bakombo et al., 2023). It is also important to note, however, that those who seek interpersonal connection via social media based on a set of symptoms or shared experiences may benefit from a sense of community or validation, but that does not negate the need for proper diagnosis through legitimate channels. Chandler and Shapiro (2016) describe the impact of social

media on self-diagnosis as "complex and multifaceted" and state that more research is needed to determine the magnitude and type of impact that social media will continue to have on mental health.

From a clinical perspective, self-diagnosis can be harmful in a variety of ways. Norcross and Karpiak (2012) note that self-diagnosis can lead to inaccurate diagnosis and treatment given that patients may lack the understanding and training to appropriately assess their symptoms and are potentially getting information from unreliable sources. Further, self-diagnosis can also contribute to poor rapport between clinicians and their patients, as well as resistance to treatments suggested by healthcare professionals (Hilton et al. 2013). Some research suggests that clinicians may feel hesitant to challenge a patient's self-diagnosis due to concerns about damaging a therapeutic relationship or invalidating the client, which can delay appropriate treatment or intervention and ultimately risks harm to the patient (Norcross & Karpiak, 2012). On a practical level, self-diagnosis can lead to additional burden to clinicians as they need to spend time providing proper psychoeducation, resources, and dispelling myths or false information (Norcross & Karpiak, 2012). Finally, in a diagnostic system that aims to provide accurate, non-compounding diagnoses, self-diagnosis leads to overdiagnosis in the vast majority of cases, around 85 percent (Semigran et al., 2015). Beyond this, self-diagnosis leads to overtreatment in approximately one-third of cases (Semigran et al., 2015). This represents poor utilization of resources, overmedicalization of patients, additional burden to clinicians, and inaccurate estimates of the prevalence or incidence rates of given disorders due to overinflated data from patients who self-diagnose.

Life Online vs IRL

Boyd and Ellison (2007) used the term "networked publics" to refer to social media platforms. Social network sites are distinct from face-to-face public life in four ways; persistence, searchability, replicability, and invisible audiences (boyd, 2007). Boyd argues that these factors, which are generally not present in typical public life, are properties that fundamentally change social dynamics. Firstly, with regard to persistence, boyd notes that communications via social media are recorded in some manner which allows for asynchronous communication and extends the life of verbal acts. Secondly, these ideas recorded for posterity also become searchable; social media allows people to easily and intentionally seek out those that are like-minded, which is possible but less accessible in real-time, in-vivo interactions (boyd, 2007).

Replicability is the third property that sets social media apart from other types of interaction; it removes much of the potential for hearsay, misinterpretation, erosion from memory, and confusion between an original statement or a copy (boyd, 2007) which, at times, leads to increased accountability for expressions that are recorded in the networked public. Finally, while in typical in-person interactions we can visually, or by other means, determine privacy or if someone is observing a verbal act (i.e., conversation), social media presents the idea that it is possible for an unintended audience to virtually access any recorded expression online and consume it at a different time and place than it was originally expressed (boyd & Ellison, 2007). These qualitative differences between social media interactions and those that occur online provide important structural considerations as we evaluate social media in the context of orthorexia.

Perpetuation of Western Body Ideals

Social media is known to promote unrealistic, unattainable, and unhealthy body ideals (Fardouly et al., 2015). This can lead to a variety of concerns relevant to our exploration of orthorexia; negative body image, disordered eating behaviors, social comparison, conformity, and perfectionism are all noted as highly prevalent due to the ideals boasted by social media (Fardouly et al., 2015). Further, social media primarily promotes Westernized beauty standards including thin bodies, fair skin, and Eurocentric features, and little representation of diverse racial/ethnic, body size, or features that differ from the "ideal" as defined by Western culture (Lee & Lee, 2021). This is additionally harmful to people whose features, traits, background, and appearance are not aligned with this narrow scope of beauty. Further, there seems to be a kind of pressure to curate an ideal online self, a practice comprised of posting certain types of content, conforming to societal expectations (particularly with regard to thinness), and seeking out ways to further tailor themselves and their content to fit the aesthetic expectations seen on social media (Perloff, 2014). This can also lead to disordered eating or body-focused behaviors in an effort to achieve this "ideal self" and mimic the content we see idolized and praised on social media (Perloff, 2014). Social media has also been known to promote disordered eating behavior through peer networks where individuals consume content that normalizes, idealizes, or romanticizes disordered eating or the physical effects thereof for example, thinness, low body weight, certain body shapes, etc., (Tiggemann et al., 2014). This normalization is especially harmful given the lack of diversity and representation of other types of bodies on social media. Beyond normalization, some social media content is specifically pro-eating disorder (i.e., pro-anorexia or "pro-ana" content, pro-bulimia content, "fitspiration" or "thinspiration" etc.), where users can encourage each other to maintain their disordered eating behaviors on forums,

share tips for how to engage in disordered eating, and how to strive for their "goals" of weight loss, food restriction, or otherwise (Perloff, 2014). One study found that Instagram use and orthorexia are associated, and additionally, that those who follow health and fitness accounts were at an increased risk of developing orthorexic tendencies (Turner & Lefevre, 2017).

These online communities represent an insidious subsection of social media; the function of social networks was originally for communication and sharing content with friends, family, and followers, but in some cases, this becomes a catalyst for broadcasting harmful content with a wide audience. Research shows that social media use, exposure to imagery of thin or "perfect" bodies and "healthy" foods all perpetuate comparative behaviors, obsessive thought patterns related to fitness, eating, or appearance, or even disordered eating behaviors such as bingeing, purging, restricting caloric intake, or over-exercising as a means of maintaining a caloric deficit (Brytek-Matera et al., 2018; Dunn et al., 2017; Tiggemann et al., 2014). Research also shows that social media exposure is associated with a significantly increased risk of engaging in orthorexic behavior (Brytek-Matera et al., 2018). Among girls and women, exposure to images of thin and idealized bodies facilitates a desire to lose weight, as well as increased body dissatisfaction, which also shares a positive correlation with time spent on social media (Fardouley et al., 2015). Essentially, social media promotes the development and maintenance of orthorexia-related behaviors at a greater rate than when social media is not a factor.

Electronic Health Records

The development of electronic health records (EHRs) revolutionized healthcare for patients and care providers. Research shows that patients who have access to their EHRs are more likely to engage in preventative healthcare, actively participate in health management, and have a higher degree of trust in their providers (Nazi et al., 2013). Online access to accurate

health data also allows patients to increase communication frequency and accuracy with their providers; secure messaging and personalized resources/educational materials allow patients to have their questions answered by the appropriate provider in a timely and efficient manner (Ralston et al., 2009). As a result, patients are better able to make decisions about their health and wellness in an informed manner. Evaluating this in contrast to the misinformation and delayed or inaccurate treatment that results from engagement with social media related to health matters is striking.

Research and Social Media

At an increasing rate, social media is being used as a modality for scientific research (Munar, 2012). Social media offers a unique set of real-time data in mass quantities, and grants access to a large and immediate pool of prospective participants (Jones, 2010; Munar, 2012). Social media platforms provide a great deal of information about attitudes, behavior, and opinions which makes them valuable for researchers (Munar, 2012). Conducting research utilizing social media also makes data collection fast, easy, and cost effective (Kapp et al., 2018). One area where social media has been particularly useful for research is in the study of public health issues (Chew & Eysenbach, 2010). Social media platforms such as Twitter and Facebook provide a wealth of data on people's health-related behaviors and attitudes, making it possible to track the spread of diseases and monitor public health trends (Chew & Eysenbach, 2010). In addition to its potential as a data source, social media can also be used as a tool for recruitment and participant engagement in research studies (Widmer et al., 2014). Researchers can use social media to reach out to potential study participants, recruit participants for studies, and engage with participants throughout the study process (Kapp et al., 2018).

Despite its many advantages, using social media for research also poses some challenges. One of the main challenges is ensuring the ethical and responsible use of social media data (Munar, 2012). Researchers must ensure that they are protecting the privacy and confidentiality of social media users, and that they are using data in a way that is consistent with ethical guidelines and regulations. Another challenge is the potential for bias in social media data (Hampton et al., 2011). Social media users are not necessarily representative of the population as a whole, and their behaviors and attitudes may be influenced by a variety of factors that can bias research findings. Researchers must be aware of these potential biases and take steps to minimize their impact on their research. In addition, social media data can be difficult to interpret, as it often lacks the context that is provided by traditional research methods (Munar, 2012). Researchers must be careful to properly interpret social media data and ensure that their findings are valid and reliable. Despite these challenges, the use of social media in scientific research is likely to continue to grow in the coming years. As social media platforms continue to evolve and become more sophisticated, they will provide researchers with even more opportunities to collect and analyze data on a wide range of topics (Kapp et al., 2018).

CHAPTER VII: DISCUSSION

This non-systematic literature review sought to explore the emerging construct of orthorexia by examining the existing literature. We addressed the clinical, cultural, and systemic factors that contribute to the emergence, maintenance, and perpetuation of orthorexia and the toxic pursuit of wellness. We considered how Healthism may have served as the cultural backdrop for this construct to develop. We provided a background of our current diagnostic system and how orthorexia may or may not fit within its boundaries. Finally, we highlighted the parallel emergence of social media and how its existence has been a major influence in relation to orthorexia.

Despite the fact that the scientific community has not yet reached a consensus about whether or not orthorexia represents a clinically valid disorder, the results of this study suggest that it may be prudent to focus on treatment of symptoms rather than reification. The detailing of healthism, a construct that calls attention to the preoccupation with the health consciousness movement, has provided a roadmap for how orthorexic symptoms may have emerged in the first place. In a system where some individuals begin to assume total responsibility for their health as a result of poor standards of care and capitalistic forces, it makes sense that a portion of those people may feel compelled to take their pursuits too far and suffer as a result. Perhaps with changes of our current health system and food sourcing we might see orthorexic symptoms disappear entirely. And yet, because this would take a great deal of systematic change, we may never know if this would be the case. However, it is important for treatment providers to consider the ways in which our societal forces can shape behavior and in extreme situations, result in distress.

The critical look at the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual taken in this analysis suggests that OSFED might in fact be the best placement for orthorexia. Diagnosis provides a shared language for clinicians and researchers to communicate about symptoms and treatments (Widiger & Clark, 2000) and diagnostic criteria can help to facilitate early detection and intervention for those with mental health conditions (Regier et al., 2013). As such, it would seem an important task to validate orthorexia and find a placement for it within the DSM. However, criticisms of the DSM include an overemphasis on biological factors rather than social and behavioral (Kraemer, 2015), heavy reliance on categorical diagnoses which may oversimplify mental health disorders (Cuthbert & Insel, 2013; Kotov et al., 2017), poor categorization of personality disorders (Krueger & Eaton, 2010), and influence from pharmaceutical companies (Cosgrove & Krimsky, 2012; Greenberg, 2013). Some critics of the DSM suggest that mental illness labeling is a product of societal medicalization and pathologizing of normal human behavior. While orthorexia might not necessarily be normal behavior, it may be an understandable response to a broken system. As such, the further reification of orthorexia may serve to further solidify the problems that be.

An additional element considered in this analysis is the way that social media maintains orthorexia. Whether the scientific community decides to validate and classify orthorexia or not, social media has taken hold of the construct. Social media is known to promote unrealistic, unattainable, and unhealthy body ideals (Fardouly et al., 2015). It is the pulse of culture surrounding fitness, diet, and the pursuit of a healthy lifestyle. It also provides instant access for users to connect to communities of people with shared interests, share posts about their lives, and seek out information about health and wellness. Social media represents both a blessing and a curse to the maintenance of orthorexia. While individuals suffering with orthorexic behavior can

connect with others going through a similar experience, they also run the risk of being exposed to an abundance of unregulated information that may worsen their symptoms.

Ultimately, orthorexia is best understood within its cultural bracket and should be protected from further pathologizing or medicalization. It is suggested that researchers continue to study this construct so that psychological providers can really understand this emergence of behavior. However, in the meantime, it is recommended that providers continue to diagnose under OSFED when they encounter a clinical presentation matching the description of orthorexia.

There is still a great deal of research to be completed on this topic. Despite the fact that this study has been a comprehensive review of the construct, it remains to be decided by the scientific community whether orthorexia should be added to the DSM as it has not yet been officially validated. However, there does exist a population of people who feel that they suffer from a set of symptoms matching the description of orthorexia. This presents an important dilemma for clinical providers. What follows are treatment considerations relevant for any clinical provider who wishes to honor the state of their clients suffering, validated by the DSM or not.

Treatment Considerations

While orthorexia is not currently classified in the DSM-5-TR or the ICD-11, and therefore cannot be diagnosed, it is often described and discussed in research and clinical settings as a pathology (Bratman & Knight, 2000; Dunn et al., 2017; McComb & Mills, 2019). A 2019 study showed that 80% of dietitians reported encountering patients with orthorexia, which suggests the significance of its presence in clinical settings (McComb & Mills, 2019). There are also validated measures for assessing orthorexia (Dunn et al., 2017; Turner & Lefevre, 2017)

which further demonstrates that the field of clinical psychology recognizes orthorexia as a problem to be addressed. As such, orthorexia is treated clinically in a similar fashion to recognized mental health disorders. Treatment considerations and approaches are discussed below.

Treatment Considerations and Approaches

Because there are very few studies evaluating the efficacy of treatment approaches for orthorexia (Koven & Abry, 2015) we present several treatment modalities that are effective for adjacent disorders such as other eating disorders, OCD, and anxiety that could be adapted and applied to orthorexia. Cognitive behavioral therapy, radically open DBT, narrative therapy, mindfulness-based approaches, psychopharmacology, psychoeducation, nutrition coaching, group therapy, and interdisciplinary medical treatment are all viable means of addressing orthorexia symptoms in clinical settings (Koven & Abry, 2015).

Cognitive Behavioral Therapy

Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) is a commonly used treatment approach for a variety of mental health concerns including disordered eating, OCD, and anxiety (APA, 2022; Koven & Abry, 2015). In the case of orthorexia, restructuring cognitive distortions such as catastrophizing, dichotomous thinking, and overgeneralization can be helpful in reducing symptoms associated with disordered eating patterns (Koven & Abry, 2015). Behavioral interventions such as exposure and response prevention, as well as introducing alternative behaviors with food and fitness, can also be particularly useful in addressing symptoms of orthorexia (Koven & Abry, 2015).

Narrative Therapy

While CBT is a gold-standard treatment for eating disorders, some criticize it for

perpetuating the very behavior that it is trying to treat. Narrative therapy has been proposed as an alternative treatment modality. Narrative therapy focuses on the externalization symptoms and can help facilitate shifts in lifestyle and values that lead to more psychological flexibility and less control of eating behaviors (Scott et al., 2013). Proponents of this theory suggest that by viewing disordered eating as an entity separate from the patient, the patient can then focus on deconstructing their dominant narrative and replace it with a richer alternative story based around values that have been pushed aside because their eating disorder took precedence.

RO-DBT

Another treatment modality that has great potential for treating orthorexia is radically open dialectical behavior therapy (RO-DBT). This treatment views all disorders along a spectrum of emotional overcontrol or emotional undercontrol. Since orthorexia has many tenants of disorders of emotional overcontrol which is characterized by inflexible behavior, emotional suppression, elevated distress tolerance, and perfectionism, RO-DBT may lend itself to successful treatment outcomes (Baudinet et al., 2020). This treatment modality aims to help individuals struggling with restrictive eating identify urges to adhere to strict, rule-governed behavior and utilize mindfulness and physical relaxation techniques to manage their urges (Lynch, et al., 2015). Once this rigidity begins to be interrupted, practitioners of RO-DBT can then help their patients identify alternative behaviors that will lead to more openness, flexibility, and social connectedness.

Mindfulness Based Therapy

Expanding on the goals of RO-DBT for openness and flexibility, research shows that mindfulness-based and relaxation-oriented training can assist with health anxiety, as well as mindful eating and socialization during eating (Koven & Abry, 2015). While a great deal of

research focuses on mindfulness interventions for binge eating disorders, the cognitive rigidity, restrictive food intake, and perfectionism seen in orthorexic patients would benefit greatly from a mindful approach.

Additional Treatment Notes

In addition to the psychotherapy-based treatments recommended above, it is important that patients suffering with orthorexic symptoms engage in wrap-around care. Individuals with orthorexia should consider establishing a care team including their psychotherapist, a psychiatrist, and a dietician. By doing this, licensed professionals can serve to support orthorexic patients by re-orienting themselves to a more balanced relationship with food and wellness. Psychoeducation about nutrition, diet science, and physiology can be useful in disabusing individuals with orthorexia of their false beliefs about food, health, and body (Koven & Abry, 2015), specifically with the goal of challenging a deeply held, values-based impairment due to orthorexia. It is also worth mentioning that psychotropic medications, such as SSRIs, may be effective in orthorexia given their efficacy in anxiety, OCD, and anorexia (APA, 2022; Koven & Abry, 2015).

At present, because orthorexia is not categorized in our current diagnostic system, there is less information available about evidence-based treatments and interventions. Because of the evolution of the social media climate, continued investigation of orthorexia should be a priority in psychological science given the increasing presentation of orthorexia in clinical settings.

Detailed below are several implications for future research, based on extant research and several areas where expansions would be useful for both clinical and empirical outcomes.

Implications for Future Research

Orthorexia, as we have examined thus far, is the toxic pursuit of health and wellness

characterized by compulsive eating and exercise behavior, obsessive thought patterns related to food and physical fitness, and emotional impacts such as guilt, shame, and anxiety in the wake of self-perceived failures in achieving pinnacle health. Orthorexia is maintained by cognitive rigidity, social comparison, social media and cultural factors, and the drive to achieve health and wellness. The impact of social media on the development, maintenance, and perpetuation of orthorexia warrants additional focus in research.

A primary area for future exploration is the degree to which social media and online culture contribute to a clinically significant presentation of orthorexia. This subsequently calls for the instatement of orthorexia as a formal diagnostic classification in some manner. Future research could focus on the placement of orthorexia as an eating or related disorder, or, given the overlap with obsessive-compulsive and anxiety disorders, as a potential subtype within another diagnostic category. This gives to the additional line of research aimed at developing specialized clinical interventions for orthorexia, as well as assessment measures to further clarify diagnoses. Further, research should aim to address mechanisms by which social media use can be detrimental, and perhaps, explore ways to reduce inadvertent harm from engaging in social media.

References

- Aalbers, G., McNally, R. J., Heeren, A., de Wit, S., & Fried, E. I. (2019). Social media and depression symptoms: A network perspective. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 148(8), 1454–1462. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000528
- Agras, W. S., & Robinson, A. (Eds.). (2017). *The Oxford handbook of eating disorders* (2nd ed). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190620998.001.0001
- Agusala, B. (2022, January 26). *9 diet fads to try (or skip completely) in 2022*. UT Southwestern Medical Center. https://utswmed.org/medblog/diets-best-and-worst/
- Aichner, T., Grünfelder, M., Maurer, O., & Jegeni, D. (2021). Twenty-five years of social media: A review of social media applications and definitions from 1994 to 2019. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 24(4), 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2020.0134
- Aldao, A., Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Schweizer, S. (2010). Emotion-regulation strategies across psychopathology: A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *30*(2), 217–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2009.11.004
- Alkis, Y., Kadirhan, Z., & Sat, M. (2017). Development and validation of social anxiety scale for social media users. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 72, 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2017.03.011
- Alonzo, R., Hussain, J., Stranges, S., & Anderson, K. K. (2021). Interplay between social media use, sleep quality, and mental health in youth: A systematic review. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *56*, 101414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101414
- Ambwani, S., Shippe, M., Gao, Z., & Austin, S. (2019). Is #cleaneating a healthy or harmful dietary strategy? Perceptions of clean eating and associations with disordered eating among young adults. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-019-0246-2
- American Psychiatric Association. (1952). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*. The APA Committee on Nomenclature and Statistics.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1968). DSM-II: Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. The American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-III*. American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1995). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders:DSM-IV*. American Psychiatric Publishing.

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). *DSM 5-TR* (1st ed.). American Psychiatric Publishing, Inc.
- American Psychological Association. (2021, October). *APA guidelines for the optimal use of social media in professional psychological practice* [PDF]. APA.org. https://www.apa.org/about/policy/guidelines-optimal-use-social-media.pdf
- Aparicio-Martinez, P., Perea-Moreno, A. J., Martinez-Jimenez, M. P., Redel-Macías, M. D., Pagliari, C., & Vaquero-Abellan, M. (2019). Social media, thin-ideal, body dissatisfaction and disordered eating attitudes: An exploratory analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(21), 4177. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16214177
- Aziz, J. (2017). An empirical study on the influence of Instagram use on body image and fatphobia in Catalan university students [Doctoral dissertation, Universitat Pompeu Fabra]. Department of Communication. https://repositori.upf.edu/bitstream/handle/10230/33255/Aziz_2017.pdf?sequence=1&isA llowed=y
- Bak, C. M., Priniski, J. H., & Holyoak, K. J. (in press). Representations of health and wellness on Instagram: An analysis of 285,000 Posts. *PsyArXiv Preprints*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/6nxvu
- Baker, M. (2022, April 7). Fortitude nutrition coaching orthorexia: When healthy eating becomes a health-damaging obsession. Fortitude Nutrition Coaching. https://www.fortitudenutritioncoaching.com.au/blog/what-is-orthorexia
- Bakombo, S., Ewalefo, P., & Konkle, A. T. M. (2023). The influence of social media on the perception of autism spectrum disorders: Content analysis of public discourse on youtube videos. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(4), 3246. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20043246
- Bale, T. L., Baram, T. Z., Brown, A. S., Goldstein, J. M., Insel, T. R., McCarthy, M. M., Nemeroff, C. B., Reyes, T. M., Simerly, R. B., Susser, E. S., & Nestler, E. J. (2010). Early life programming and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(4), 314–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.028
- Bardone-Cone, A. M., Wonderlich, S. A., Frost, R. O., Bulik, C. M., Mitchell, J. E., Uppala, S., & Simonich, H. (2007). Perfectionism and eating disorders: Current status and future directions. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *27*(3), 384–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.12.005

- Barthels, F., Barrada, J. R., & Roncero, M. (2019). Orthorexia nervosa and healthy orthorexia as new eating styles. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(7), e0219609. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0219609
- Batt-Rawden, S., Flickinger, T., Weiner, J., Cheston, C., & Chisolm, M. (2014). The role of social media in clinical excellence. *The Clinical Teacher*, *11*(4), 264–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.12129
- Baudinet, J., Simic, M., Griffiths, H., Donnelly, C., Stewart, C., & Goddard, E. (2020). Targeting maladaptive overcontrol with radically open dialectical behaviour therapy in a day programme for adolescents with restrictive eating disorders: an uncontrolled case series. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-020-00338-9
- Bayer, R., & Spitzer, R. L. (1985). Neurosis, psychodynamics, and DSM-III. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 42(2), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1985.01790250081011
- Beaulac, J., Kristjansson, E., & Cummins, S. (2009). A systematic review of food deserts, 1966-2007. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *6*(3), A105. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2722409/
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1966). *Social construction of reality* (1st ed.). Irvington Publishers.
- Berry, L. L., Mirabito, A. M., & Baun, W. B. (2010, November 30). What's the hard return on employee wellness programs? *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2010/12/whats- the-hard-return-on-employee-wellness-programs
- Bhattacharya, A., Cooper, M., McAdams, C., Peebles, R., & Timko, C. (2022). Cultural shifts in the symptoms of anorexia nervosa: The case of orthorexia nervosa. *Appetite*, *170*, 105869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2021.105869
- Biglan, A., & Ogden, T. (2008). The evolution of evidence-based practices. *European Journal of Behavior Analysis*, 9(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/15021149.2008.11434297
- Biles, J. E., McNeal, T. P., Begley, T. H., & Hollifield, H. C. (1997). Determination of bisphenol-a in reusable polycarbonate food-contact plastics and migration to food-simulating liquids. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 45(9), 3541–3544. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf970072i
- Blanco, X., Rodríguez, S., Corchado, J. M., & Zato, C. (2013). Case-based reasoning applied to medical diagnosis and treatment. In S. Omatu, J. Neves, J.Rodriguez, J. Paz Santana, & S. Gonzalez (Eds.), *Distributed computing and artificial intelligence* (pp. 137–146). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-00551-5_17
- Bohon, C., & Stice, E. (2012). Negative affect and neural response to palatable food intake in bulimia nervosa. *Appetite*, *58*(3), 964–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.02.051

- Bonnie, R. J., Ford, M. A., & Phillips, J. K. (Eds.). (2017). *Pain management and the opioid epidemic*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24781
- Bou Khalil, R., Souaiby, L., & Farès, N. (2017). The importance of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis as a therapeutic target in anorexia nervosa. *Physiology & Behavior*, *171*, 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.12.035
- boyd, d. m., & Ellison, N. B. (2007). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *13*(1), 210–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x
- Bratman, S. (1997). *Health food junkie*. Www.beyondveg.com. https://www.beyondveg.com/bratman-s/hfj/hf-junkie-1a.shtml
- Bratman, S., & Knight, D. (2000). *Health food junkies: Orthorexia nervosa: Overcoming the obsession with healthful eating* (1st ed.). Broadway.
- Brewerton, T. D., Stellefson, E. J., Hibbs, N., Hodges, E. L., & Cochrane, C. E. (1995). Comparison of eating disorder patients with and without compulsive exercising. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *17*(4), 413–416. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108x(199505)17:4<413::aid-eat2260170414>3.0.co;2-0
- Brownson, R. C., Fielding, J. E., & Maylahn, C. M. (2009). Evidence-based public health: A fundamental concept for public health practice. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *30*(1), 175–201. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100134
- Brytek-Matera, A., Gramaglia, C., Gambaro, E., Delicato, C., & Zeppegno, P. (2018). The psychopathology of body image in orthorexia nervosa. *Journal of Psychopathology*, 24(3), 133–140. https://doi.org/https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2019-20696-004
- Bulik, C. M., Flatt, R., Abbaspour, A., & Carroll, I. (2019). Reconceptualizing anorexia nervosa. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 73(9), 518–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/pcn.12857
- Cavan, J., & Connan, F. (2010). Eating disorders: Clinical features and diagnosis. *Clinical Pharmacist*, *2*(10), 325–329. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289654067_Eating_disorders_Clinical_features_and_diagnosis
- Cena, H., Barthels, F., Cuzzolaro, M., Bratman, S., Brytek-Matera, A., Dunn, T., Varga, M., Missbach, B., & Donini, L. M. (2018). Definition and diagnostic criteria for orthorexia nervosa: A narrative review of the literature. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 24(2), 209–246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-018-0606-y
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). *About mental health*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/mentalhealth/learn/index.htm

- Chandler, J., & Shapiro, D. (2016). Conducting clinical research using crowdsourced convenience samples. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *12*(1), 53–81. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093623
- Chang, A. K., Bijur, P. E., Esses, D., Barnaby, D. P., & Baer, J. (2017). Effect of a single dose of oral opioid and nonopioid analgesics on acute extremity pain in the emergency department. *JAMA*, 318(17), 1661. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.16190
- Cheshire, A., Berry, M., & Fixsen, A. (2020). What are the key features of orthorexia nervosa and influences on its development? a qualitative investigation. *Appetite*, *155*, 104798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104798
- Cheston, C. C., Flickinger, T. E., & Chisolm, M. S. (2013). Social media use in medical education. *Academic Medicine*, 88(6), 893–901. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.0b013e31828ffc23
- Chew, C., & Eysenbach, G. (2010). Pandemics in the age of twitter: Content analysis of tweets during the 2009 h1n1 outbreak. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(11), e14118. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014118
- Cho, Y., Lee, S.-Y. D., Arozullah, A. M., & Crittenden, K. S. (2008). Effects of health literacy on health status and health service utilization amongst the elderly. *Social Science & Medicine*, 66(8), 1809–1816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.01.003
- Choukas-Bradley, S., Roberts, S. R., Maheux, A. J., & Nesi, J. (2022). The perfect storm: A developmental–sociocultural framework for the role of social media in adolescent girls' body image concerns and mental health. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 25(4), 681–701. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-022-00404-5
- Cinquegrani, C., & Brown, D. H. K. (2018). 'Wellness' lifts us above the food chaos': A narrative exploration of the experiences and conceptualisations of orthorexia nervosa through online social media forums. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 10(5), 585–603. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2018.1464501
- Clark, L. A., Cuthbert, B., Lewis-Fernández, R., Narrow, W. E., & Reed, G. M. (2017). Three approaches to understanding and classifying mental disorder: ICD-11, DSM-5, and The National Institute of Mental Health's research domain criteria (RDoC). *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 18(2), 72–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100617727266
- Clemow, D. B., & Walker, D. J. (2014). The potential for misuse and abuse of medications in ADHD: A review. *Postgraduate Medicine*, *126*(5), 64–81. https://doi.org/10.3810/pgm.2014.09.2801

- Corazza, O., Simonato, P., Demetrovics, Z., Mooney, R., van de Ven, K., Roman-Urrestarazu, A., Rácmolnár, L., De Luca, I., Cinosi, E., Santacroce, R., Marini, M., Wellsted, D., Sullivan, K., Bersani, G., & Martinotti, G. (2019). The emergence of exercise addiction, body dysmorphic disorder, and other image-related psychopathological correlates in fitness settings: A cross sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(4), e0213060. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213060
- Cosgrove, L., & Krimsky, S. (2012). A comparison of dsm-iv and dsm-5 panel members' financial associations with industry: A pernicious problem persists. *PLoS Medicine*, *9*(3), e1001190. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001190
- Crawford, R. (1980). Healthism and the medicalization of everyday life. *International Journal of Health Services*, 10(3), 365–388. https://doi.org/10.2190/3h2h-3xjn-3kay-g9ny
- Culbert, K. M., Racine, S. E., & Klump, K. L. (2015). Research review: What we have learned about the causes of eating disorders a synthesis of sociocultural, psychological, and biological research. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *56*(11), 1141–1164. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12441
- Cunningham, S., Hudson, C. C., & Harkness, K. (2021). Social media and depression symptoms: A meta-analysis. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(2), 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-020-00715-7
- Cuthbert, B. N., & Insel, T. R. (2013). Toward the future of psychiatric diagnosis: The seven pillars of rdoc. *BMC Medicine*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-126
- Cwynar-Horta, J. (2016). The commodification of the body positive movement on instagram. *Stream: Interdisciplinary Journal of Communication*, 8(2), 36–56. https://doi.org/10.21810/strm.v8i2.203
- Depa, J., Barrada, J., & Roncero, M. (2019). Are the motives for food choices different in orthorexia nervosa and healthy orthorexia? *Nutrients*, *11*(3), 697. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11030697
- Donini, L. M., Barrada, J., Barthels, F., Dunn, T. M., Babeau, C., Brytek-Matera, A., Cena, H., Cerolini, S., Cho, H., Coimbra, M., Cuzzolaro, M., Ferreira, C., Galfano, V., Grammatikopoulou, M. G., Hallit, S., Håman, L., Hay, P., Jimbo, M., Lasson, C.,...Lombardo, C. (2022). A consensus document on definition and diagnostic criteria for orthorexia nervosa. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 27(8), 3695–3711. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-022-01512-5
- Donini, L. M., Marsili, D., Graziani, M. P., Imbriale, M., & Cannella, C. (2004). Orthorexia nervosa: A preliminary study with a proposal for diagnosis and an attempt to measure the dimension of the phenomenon. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia*, *Bulimia and Obesity*, 9(2), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03325060

- Dunn, T. M., Gibbs, J., Whitney, N., & Starosta, A. (2017). Prevalence of orthorexia nervosa is less than 1 %: Data from a US sample. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 22(1), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-016- 0258-8
- Easter, M. M. (2012). "Not all my fault": Genetics, stigma, and personal responsibility for women with eating disorders. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(8), 1408–1416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.05.042
- Eating Recovery Center. (n.d.). *History of eating disorders*. https://www.eatingrecoverycenter.com/blog/february-2018/let's-get-real-about-the-history-of-eating-disorders
- Ehrlich, S., Geisler, D., Ritschel, F., King, J. A., Seidel, M., Boehm, I., Breier, M., Clas, S., Weiss, J., Marxen, M., Smolka, M. N., Roessner, V., & Kroemer, N. B. (2015). Elevated cognitive control over reward processing in recovered female patients with anorexia nervosa. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 40(5), 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.140249
- Ekor, M. (2014). The growing use of herbal medicines: Issues relating to adverse reactions and challenges in monitoring safety. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2013.00177
- El-Haddad, C., Hegazi, I., & Hu, W. (2020). Understanding patient expectations of health care: A qualitative study. *Journal of Patient Experience*, 7(6), 1724–1731. https://doi.org/10.1177/2374373520921692
- Ellenberger, H. F. (1970). The discovery of the unconscious: The history and evolution of dynamic psychiatry. Basic Books.
- Entgal. (2022, July 7). *The wellness technology market in 2022*. Entgal. https://www.engtal.com/the-wellness-technology-market-in-2022/
- Evans, B. E., Greaves-Lord, K., Euser, A. S., Tulen, J. H. M., Franken, I. H. A., & Huizink, A. C. (2013). Determinants of physiological and perceived physiological stress reactivity in children and adolescents. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(4), e61724. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061724
- Fairburn, C. G., & Bohn, K. (2005). Eating disorder nos (ednos): An example of the troublesome "not otherwise specified" (nos) category in dsm-iv. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 43(6), 691–701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2004.06.011
- Fairburn, C. G., & Cooper, Z. (2011). Eating disorders, dsm–5 and clinical reality. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 198(1), 8–10. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083881

- Fan, Z., Yang, Y., & Zhang, F. (2021). Association between health literacy and mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Public Health*, 79(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00648-7
- Fardouly, J., Diedrichs, P. C., Vartanian, L. R., & Halliwell, E. (2015). Social comparisons on social media: The impact of facebook on young women's body image concerns and mood. *Body Image*, *13*, 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2014.12.002
- Favaro, A., Busetto, P., Collantoni, E., & Santonastaso, P. (2018). The age of onset of eating disorders. In G. de Girolamo, P. McGorry, & N. Sartorius (Eds.), *Age of onset of mental disorders* (pp. 203–216). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-72619-9_11
- Flint Water Study Updates. (2015, September 2). Flint river water is very corrosive to lead, and causing lead contamination in homes. http://flintwaterstudy.org/2015/09/flint-rivers-water-is-very-corrosive-to-lead-and-causing-lead-contamination-in-homes/
- Flood, A., Lorence, D. P., Ding, J., McPherson, K., & Black, N. A. (1993). The role of expectations in patients' reports of post-operative outcomes and improvement following therapy. *Medical Care*, *31*(11), 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005650-199311000-00006
- Foucault, M. (1975). *Madness and civilization*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203164693
- Francis, S., Rolls, E. T., Bowtell, R., McGlone, F., O'Doherty, J., Browning, A., Clare, S., & Smith, E. (1999). The representation of pleasant touch in the brain and its relationship with taste and olfactory areas. *NeuroReport*, *10*(3), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199902250-00003
- Frank, G. K. (2019). Neuroimaging and eating disorders. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, *32*(6), 478–483. https://doi.org/10.1097/yco.00000000000544
- Friederich, H.-C., Wu, M., Simon, J. J., & Herzog, W. (2013). Neurocircuit function in eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46(5), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22099
- Friedman, E.M., Shih, R.A., Langa, K.M., & Hurd, M.D. (2015). US Prevalence and predictors of informal caregiving for dementia. *Health Affairs*, *34*(10), 1637–1641. 10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0510
- Galmiche, M., Déchelotte, P., Lambert, G., & Tavolacci, M. (2019). Prevalence of eating disorders over the 2000–2018 period: A systematic literature review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 109(5), 1402–1413. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy342

- Gann, L. (2019). Orthorexia nervosa: the role of social media #cleaneating [Doctoral dissertation, University of Iowa]. Iowa Research Online. https://iro.uiowa.edu/esploro/outputs/doctoral/Orthorexia-nervosa-the-role-of-social/9983777186402771
- Geisler, D., Ritschel, F., King, J. A., Bernardoni, F., Seidel, M., Boehm, I., Runge, F., Goschke, T., Roessner, V., Smolka, M. N., & Ehrlich, S. (2017). Increased anterior cingulate cortex response precedes behavioural adaptation in anorexia nervosa. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/srep42066
- Gergen, K. J. (1985). The social constructionist movement in modern psychology. *American Psychologist*, 40(3), 266–275. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.40.3.266
- Ghaemi, S. (2009). The rise and fall of the biopsychosocial model. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 195(1), 3–4. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.109.063859
- Global Wellness Summit. (2019). *Global wellness trends report* [Report]. https://doi.org/https://www.vatc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/2019-Wellness-Trendsfrom-Global-Wellness-Summit.pdf
- Gluck, M. E. (2006). Stress response and binge eating disorder. *Appetite*, 46(1), 26–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2005.05.004
- Goggin, G. (2017). Disability and haptic mobile media. *New Media & Society*, *19*(10), 1563–1580. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444817717512
- Goldman, D. P., Shang, B., Bhattacharya, J., Garber, A. M., Hurd, M., Joyce, G. F., Lakdawalla, D. N., Panis, C., & Shekelle, P. G. (2005). Consequences of health trends and medical innovation for the future elderly. *Health Affairs*, *24*(Suppl2), W5–R5-W5-R17. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.w5.r5
- Gordon, K. H., Holm-Denoma, J. M., Douglas, V. J., Crosby, R., & Wonderlich, S. A. (2017). *The classification of eating disorders*. In W. Agras & A. Robinson (Eds.), *The Oxford handbook of eating disorders*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190620998.013.1
- Gowers, S. G., & Palmer, B. (2004). Eating disorders: Assessment and strategies. *Women's Health Medicine*, 1(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1383/wohm.1.1.11.55417
- Greenberg, G. (2013). The book of woe. Scribe Publications.
- Greenhalgh, T., & Wessely, S. (2004). 'Health for me': A sociocultural analysis of healthism in the middle classes. *British Medical Bulletin*, *69*(1), 197–213. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldh013
- Gull, W. (1997). V.-anorexia nervosa (apepsia hysterica, anorexia hysterica). *Obesity Research*, 5(5), 498–502. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1997.tb00677.x

- Gundersen, C., & Ziliak, J. P. (2015). Food insecurity and health outcomes. *Health Affairs*, 34(11), 1830–1839. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0645
- Gunderson, J. G. (2011). Revising the borderline diagnosis for DSM-V: An alternative proposal. *Journal of Personality Disorders*, 24(6), 694–708. https://doi.org/10.1521/pedi.2010.24.6.694
- Haffajee, R. L., & Mello, M. M. (2020). Thinking globally, acting locally the U.S. response to COVID-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *382*(22), e75. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp2006740
- Hamann, K. R., Reese, G., Seewald, D., & Loeschinger, D. C. (2015). Affixing the theory of normative conduct (to your mailbox): Injunctive and descriptive norms as predictors of anti-ads sticker use. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 44, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.08.003
- Hampton, K. N., Sessions, L. F., & Her, E. (2011). Core networks, social isolation, and new media. *Information, Communication & Society*, *14*(1), 130–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2010.513417
- Hanganu-Bresch, C. (2019). Orthorexia: Eating right in the context of healthism. *Medical Humanities*, 46(3), 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1136/medhum-2019-011681
- Harrison, A., Sullivan, S., Tchanturia, K., & Treasure, J. (2010). Emotional functioning in eating disorders: Attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. *Psychological Medicine*, 40(11), 1887–1897. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291710000036
- Hay, P. J., Mond, J., Buttner, P., & Darby, A. (2008). Eating disorder behaviors are increasing: Findings from two sequential community surveys in south Australia. *PLoS ONE*, *3*(2), e1541. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001541
- Herricks, J. R., Hotez, P. J., Wanga, V., Coffeng, L. E., Haagsma, J. A., Basáñez, M.-G., Buckle, G., Budke, C. M., Carabin, H., Fèvre, E. M., Fürst, T., Halasa, Y. A., King, C. H., Murdoch, M. E., Ramaiah, K. D., Shepard, D. S., Stolk, W. A., Undurraga, E. A., Stanaway, J. D.,...Murray, C. L. (2017). The global burden of disease study 2013: What does it mean for the ntds? *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *11*(8), e0005424. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005424
- Hill, L. H., & Holland, R. (2021). Health disparities, race, and the global pandemic of COVID-19: The demise of Black Americans. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 2021(170), 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/ace.20425
- Hilmers, A., Hilmers, D. C., & Dave, J. (2012). Neighborhood disparities in access to healthy foods and their effects on environmental justice. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(9), 1644–1654. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2012.300865

- Hilton, A. K., Jones, D., & Bellomo, R. (2013). Clinical review: The role of the intensivist and the rapid response team in nosocomial end-of-life care. *Critical Care*, 17(2), 224. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc11856
- Hollinderbäumer, A., Hartz, T., & Ückert, F. (2013). Education 2.0 How has social media and web 2.0 been integrated into medical duction? A systematical literature review. *GMS Zeitschrift für Medizinische Ausbildung; 30*(1), 1860–3572. https://doi.org/10.3205/zma000857
- Hudson, J. I., Lalonde, J. K., Coit, C. E., Tsuang, M. T., McElroy, S. L., Crow, S. J., Bulik, C. M., Hudson, M. S., Yanovski, J. A., Rosenthal, N. R., & Pope, H. G. (2010).
 Longitudinal study of the diagnosis of components of the metabolic syndrome in individuals with binge-eating disorder. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 91(6), 1568–73. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2010.29203
- Jamison, D. T., Breman, J. G., Measham, A. R., Alleyne, G., Claeson, M., Evans, D. B., Jha, P., Mills, A., & Musgrove, P. (2006). Disease control priorities in developing countries. World Bank Publications.
- Jenkins, P. E., Rienecke, R. D., Conley, C. S., Meyer, C., & Blissett, J. M. (2015). The relation between eating disorder symptoms and impairment. *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease*, 203(6), 452–458. https://doi.org/10.1097/nmd.0000000000000001
- Jennings, R. (2021, January 3). The paradox of online "body positivity". *Vox*. https://doi.org/https://www.vox.com/the-goods/22226997/body-positivity-instagramtiktok-fatphobia-social-media
- Jeste, D. V., Blazer, D. G., & First, M. (2005). Aging-related diagnostic variations: Need for diagnostic criteria appropriate for elderly psychiatric patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, 58(4), 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.004
- Johnson, S. (1775). A dictionary of the English language. *Johnson's Dictionary Online*. https://johnsonsdictionaryonline.com
- Jones, C. (2010). Finding a place in history: Symbolic and social networks in creative careers and collective memory. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *31*(5), 726–748. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.704
- Kadish, Y. A. (2012). The role of culture in eating disorders. *British Journal of Psychotherapy*, 28(4), 435–453. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0118.2012.01311.x
- Kapp, J. M., Hensel, B., & Schnoring, K. T. (2018). Is twitter a forum for disseminating research to health policy makers? *Annals of Epidemiology*, *25*(12), 883–887. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.09.002

- Kaye, W. H., Fudge, J. L., & Paulus, M. (2009). New insights into symptoms and neurocircuit function of anorexia nervosa. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10(8), 573–584. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2682
- Keel, P. K., & Klump, K. L. (2003). Are eating disorders culture-bound syndromes? Implications for conceptualizing their etiology. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(5), 747–769. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.747
- Keers, R. Y. (1982). Richard Morton (1637–98) and his phthisiologia. *Thorax*, *37*(1), 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.37.1.26
- Keles, B., McCrae, N., & Grealish, A. (2019). A systematic review: The influence of social media on depression, anxiety and psychological distress in adolescents. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 25(1), 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2019.1590851
- Kellerman, J. K., Hamilton, J. L., Selby, E. A., & Kleiman, E. M. (2022). The mental health impact of daily news exposure during the COVID-19 pandemic: Ecological momentary assessment study. *JMIR Mental Health*, *9*(5), e36966. https://doi.org/10.2196/36966
- Kim, B., & Mackert, M. (2022). Social media use and binge eating: An integrative review. *Public Health Nursing*, 39(5), 1134–1141. https://doi.org/10.1111/phn.13069
- Klump, K. L., Suisman, J. L., Burt, S., McGue, M., & Iacono, W. G. (2009). Genetic and environmental influences on disordered eating: An adoption study. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 118(4), 797–805. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017204
- Kotov, R., Krueger, R. F., Watson, D., Achenbach, T. M., Althoff, R. R., Bagby, R., Brown, T. A., Carpenter, W. T., Caspi, A., Clark, L., Eaton, N. R., Forbes, M. K., Forbush, K. T., Goldberg, D., Hasin, D., Hyman, S. E., Ivanova, M. Y., Lynam, D. R., Markon, K.,...Zimmerman, M. (2017). The hierarchical taxonomy of psychopathology (hitop): A dimensional alternative to traditional nosologies. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 126(4), 454–477. https://doi.org/10.1037/abn0000258
- Koven, N., & Abry, A. (2015). The clinical basis of orthorexia nervosa: Emerging perspectives. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 11, 385–394. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s61665
- Kraemer, H. (2015). Research domain criteria (RDoC) and the DSM—Two methodological approaches to mental health diagnosis. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(12), 1163–1164. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2134
- Kraidy, M. M. (2002). *Globalization of culture through the media* [Doctoral dissertation, University of Pennsylvania]. Encyclopedia of Communication and Information. https://repository.upenn.edu/asc_papers/325/

- Krueger, R. F., & Eaton, N. R. (2010). Personality traits and the classification of mental disorders: Toward a more complete integration in DSM–5 and an empirical model of psychopathology. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 1(2), 97–118. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018990
- Kupfer, D. (2013). The DSM-5 An interview with David Kupfer. *BMC Medicine*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-203
- Labonté, R. (2015). Globalization and health. *International encyclopedia of the social & behavioral sciences* (2nd ed., pp. 198–205). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08- 097086-8.14022-x
- Lamarche, L., Gammage, K. L., & Ozimok, B. (2018). The gym as a culture of body achievement: Exploring negative and positive body image experiences in men attending university. *SAGE Open*, 8(2), 215824401877810. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018778103
- Lane, C. (2013). Why DSM-5 concerns European psychiatrists. *Psychology Today*. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/side-effects/201303/why-dsm-5-concernseuropean-psychiatrists
- Lavagnino, L., Arnone, D., Cao, B., Soares, J. C., & Selvaraj, S. (2016). Inhibitory control in obesity and binge eating disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis of neurocognitive and neuroimaging studies. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 68, 714–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.041
- Le Grange, D., Lock, J., Loeb, K., & Nicholls, D. (2009). Academy for eating disorders position paper: The role of the family in eating disorders. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20751
- Lee, J. A., & Pausé, C. J. (2016). Stigma in practice: Barriers to health for fat women. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.02063
- Lee, M., & Lee, H.-H. (2021). Social media photo activity, internalization, appearance comparison, and body satisfaction: The moderating role of photo-editing behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 114, 106579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106579
- Leonti, M., & Casu, L. (2013). Traditional medicines and globalization: Current and future perspectives in ethnopharmacology. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2013.00092
- Levin, R. L., Mills, J. S., McComb, S. E., & Rawana, J. S. (2023). Examining orthorexia nervosa: Using latent profile analysis to explore potential diagnostic classification and subtypes in a non-clinical sample. *Appetite*, *181*, 106398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2022.106398

- Lichtenstein, M. B., Hinze, C. J., Emborg, B., Thomsen, F., & Hemmingsen, S. D. (2017). Compulsive exercise: Links, risks and challenges faced. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 10, 85–95. https://doi.org/10.2147/prbm.s113093
- Linardon, J., Wade, T. D., de la Piedad Garcia, X., & Brennan, L. (2017). The efficacy of cognitive-behavioral therapy for eating disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 85(11), 1080–1094. https://doi.org/10.1037/ccp0000245
- Lindvall Dahlgren, C., Wisting, L., & Rø, Ø. (2017). Feeding and eating disorders in the dsm-5 era: A systematic review of prevalence rates in non-clinical male and female samples. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-017-0186-7
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27(1), 363–385. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Lopez, R. B., Chen, P.-H. A., Huckins, J. F., Hofmann, W., Kelley, W. M., & Heatherton, T. F. (2017). A balance of activity in brain control and reward systems predicts self-regulatory outcomes. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *12*(5), 832–838. https://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsx004
- Lynch, T. R., Hempel, R. J., & Dunkley, C. (2015). Radically Open-Dialectical Behavior Therapy for Disorders of Over-Control: Signaling Matters. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 69(2), 141–162.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2015.69.2.141
- Mach, K. J., Salas Reyes, R., Pentz, B., Taylor, J., Costa, C. A., Cruz, S. G., Thomas, K. E., Arnott, J. C., Donald, R., Jagannathan, K., Kirchhoff, C. J., Rosella, L. C., & Klenk, N. (2021). News media coverage of COVID-19 public health and policy information. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-021-00900-z
- Machado, P. P., Gonçalves, S., & Hoek, H. W. (2013). DSM-5 reduces the proportion of ednos cases: Evidence from community samples. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46(1), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22040
- Mahon, K. (2015, April 29). *The complex Catherine of Siena and the sin of simplifying saints*. Daily Theology. https://dailytheology.org/2015/04/29/the-complex-catherine-of-siena-and-the-scandal-of-simplifying-saints/
- Makino, M., Tsuboi, K., & Dennerstein, L. (2004). Prevalence of eating disorders: A comparison of Western and non-Western countries. *Medscape General Medicine*, 6(3), 1–14. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15520673/
- Mangan, D. (2016, September 21). *Mylan's epipen 'greed is astounding ... sickening and disgusting,' rep says*. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2016/09/21/mylan-ceo-says-epipen-profits-no-where-near-devices-600-sticker-price.html

- Marks, R., De Foe, A., & Collett, J. (2020). The pursuit of wellness: Social media, body image and eating disorders. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119, 105659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105659
- Marwick, A. E., & boyd, d. (2014). Networked privacy: How teenagers negotiate context in social media. *New Media & Society*, *16*(7), 1051–1067. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814543995
- Mattson, M., & Wan, R. (2005). Beneficial effects of intermittent fasting and caloric restriction on the cardiovascular and cerebrovascular systems. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 16(3), 129–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2004.12.007
- Mavrandrea, P., & Gonidakis, F. (2023). Exercise dependence and orthorexia nervosa in crossfit: Exploring the role of perfectionism. *Current Psychology*, 42, 25151–25159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03585-y
- McCartney, M. (2016). Margaret McCartney: Clean eating and the cult of healthism. *BMJ*, i4095. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4095
- McComb, S. E., & Mills, J. S. (2019). Orthorexia nervosa: A review of psychosocial risk factors. *Appetite*, 140, 50–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2019.05.005
- Mehler, P. S., & Brown, C. (2015). Anorexia nervosa Medical complications. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-015-0040-8
- Micale, M. S. (1997). A history of clinical psychiatry: The origin and history of psychiatric disorders. *Medical History*, 41(1), 104–105. https://doi.org/10.1017/s002572730006213x
- Miller, M. N., & Pumariega, A. J. (2001). Culture and eating disorders: A historical and cross-cultural review. *Psychiatry: Interpersonal and Biological Processes*, 64(2), 93–110. https://doi.org/10.1521/psyc.64.2.93.18621
- Mishra, L., Gupta, T., & Shree, A. (2020). Online teaching-learning in higher education during lockdown period of COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, *1*, 100012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100012
- Miskowiak, K. W., Seeberg, I., Kjaerstad, H. L., Burdick, K. E., Martinez-Aran, A., Bonnin, C., Bowie, C. R., Carvalho, A. F., Gallagher, P., Hasler, G., Lafer, B., López-Jaramillo, C., Sumiyoshi, T., McIntyre, R. S., Schaffer, A., Porter, R. J., Purdon, S., Torres, I. J., Yatham, L. N.,...Vieta, E. (2019). Affective cognition in bipolar disorder: A systematic review by the isbd targeting cognition task force. *Bipolar Disorders*, *21*(8), 686–719. https://doi.org/10.1111/bdi.12834
- Mitchell, S. (2023, March 2). How technology is improving access to medical services for rural and remote areas. MUO. https://www.makeuseof.com/technology-improving-access-medical-services-rural-remote-areas/

- Monteleone, A., Cascino, G., Ruzzi, V., Pellegrino, F., Patriciello, G., Barone, E., Carfagno, M., Monteleone, P., & Maj, M. (2021). Emotional traumatic experiences significantly contribute to identify a maltreated ecophenotype sub-group in eating disorders: Experimental evidence. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 29(2), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2818
- Moradi, B., & Huang, Y.-P. (2008). Objectification theory and psychology of women: A decade of advances and future directions. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *32*(4), 377–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00452.x
- Moroze, R. M., Dunn, T. M., Holland, J. C., Yager, J., & Weintraub, P. (2015). Microthinking about micronutrients: A case of transition from obsessions about healthy eating to near-fatal "orthorexia nervosa" and proposed diagnostic criteria. *Psychosomatics*, *56*(4), 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psym.2014.03.003
- Moskowitz, L., & Weiselberg, E. (2017). Anorexia nervosa/atypical anorexia nervosa. *Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care*, 47(4), 70–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2017.02.003
- Moynihan, R. (2002). Selling sickness: The pharmaceutical industry and disease mongering. Commentary: Medicalisation of risk factors. *BMJ*, *324*(7342), 886–891. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.324.7342.886
- Munar, A. (2012). Social media strategies and destination management. *Scandinavian Journal of Hospitality and Tourism*, *12*(2), 101–120. https://doi.org/10.1080/15022250.2012.679047
- National Center for Health Statistics. (2020). *Provisional life expectancy estimates for 2020* [Report]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/vsrr/vsrr015-508.pdf
- Nazi, K. M., Hogan, T. P., McInnes, D., Woods, S. S., & Graham, G. (2013). Evaluating patient access to electronic health records. *Medical Care*, *51*, S52–S56. https://doi.org/10.1097/mlr.0b013e31827808db
- Nelson, R. (2016, March). Crisis in Flint: Lead and legionnaires' disease. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 16(3), 298–299. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(16)00082-7
- Niu, Z., Willoughby, J., & Zhou, R. (2021). Associations of health literacy, social media use, and self-efficacy with health information—Seeking intentions among social media users in China: Cross-sectional survey. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e19134. https://doi.org/10.2196/19134
- Norcross, J. C., & Karpiak, C. P. (2012). Teaching clinical psychology: Four seminal lessons that all can master. *Teaching of Psychology*, *39*(4), 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628312461486

- Northcott, C. (2016). Standing Rock: What next for protests? *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-38214636
- Norton, M. (2017). Fitspiration: Social media's fitness culture and its effect on body image [Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Monterey Bay]. Digital Commons @ CSUMB.

 https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1138&context=caps_thes_all
- Novara, C., Maggio, E., Piasentin, S., Pardini, S., & Mattioli, S. (2021). Orthorexia nervosa: Differences between clinical and non-clinical samples. *BMC Psychiatry*, *21*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-021-03348-2
- Nur A Yazdani, D., Abir, T., Qing, Y., Ahmad, J., Al Mamun, A., Zainol, N., Kakon, K., Agho, K., & Wang, S. (2022). Social media addiction and emotions during the disaster recovery period—The moderating role of post-COVIDtiming. *PLOS ONE*, *17*(10), e0274898. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0274898
- Nutley, S. K., Falise, A. M., Henderson, R., Apostolou, V., Mathews, C. A., & Striley, C. W. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on disordered eating behavior: Qualitative analysis of social media posts. *JMIR Mental Health*, 8(1), e26011. https://doi.org/10.2196/26011
- O'Donnell, M. P. (2009). Definition of health promotion 2.0: Embracing passion, enhancing motivation, recognizing dynamic balance, and creating opportunities. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 24(1), iv. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.24.1.iv
- ODPHP. (2016). 2015-2020 dietary guidelines for Americans [PDF]. https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/2015-2020_Dietary_Guidelines.pdf
- Olson, J. G., McFerran, B., Morales, A. C., & Dahl, D. W. (2016). Wealth and welfare: Divergent moral reactions to ethical consumer choices. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 42(6), 879–896. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucv096
- Orbach, S. (1978). Social dimensions in compulsive eating in women. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice*, 15(2), 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085858
- Ostic, D., Qalati, S. A., Barbosa, B., Shah, S. M. M., Galvan Vela, E., Herzallah, A. M., & Liu, F. (2021). Effects of social media use on psychological well-being: A mediated model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.678766
- Palmer, B. (1998). Culture, constitution, motivation and the mysterious rise of bulimia nervosa. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 6(2), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1099-0968(199806)6:2<81::aid-erv241>3.0.co;2-i

- Park, S. W., Kim, J. Y., Go, G. J., Jeon, E. S., Pyo, H. J., & Kwon, Y. J. (2011). Orthorexianervosa with hyponatremia, subcutaneous emphysema, pneumomediastimum, pneumothorax, and pancytopenia. *Electrolytes & Blood Pressure*, *9*(1), 32–37. https://doi.org/10.5049/ebp.2011.9.1.32
- Pavlova, A., & Berkers, P. (2020). Mental health discourse and social media: Which mechanisms of cultural power drive discourse on twitter. *Social Science & Medicine*, 263, 113250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113250
- Perloff, R. M. (2014). Social media effects on young women's body image concerns: Theoretical perspectives and an agenda for research. *Sex Roles*, 71(11-12), 363–377. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-014-0384-6
- Plumer, B. (2016, September 9). The battle over the Dakota access pipeline, explained. *Vox.* https://www.vox.com/2016/9/9/12862958/dakota-access-pipeline-fight
- Pope, H. G., Jr., Hudson, J. I., & Mialet, J.-P. (1985). Bulimia in the late nineteenth century: The observations of Pierre Janet. *Psychological Medicine*, *15*(4), 739–743. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291700004979
- Pratt, V. B., Madigan, D. J., & Hill, A. P. (2021). Perfectionistic self-presentation and orthorexia in exercisers. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 27(3), 1217–1221. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-021-01262-w
- Puhl, R. M., & Heuer, C. A. (2009). The stigma of obesity: A review and update. *Obesity*, *17*(5), 941–964. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.636
- Pulman, A., & Taylor, J. (2012). Munchausen by internet: Current research and future directions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *14*(4), e115. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2011
- Ralston, J. D., Coleman, K., Reid, R. J., Handley, M. R., & Larson, E. B. (2009). Patient experience should be part of meaningful-use criteria. *Health Affairs*, 29(4), 607–613. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0113
- Rappange, D. R., Brouwer, W. B., & van Exel, J. (2016). Rational expectations? An explorative study of subjective survival probabilities and lifestyle across Europe. *Health Expectations*, 19(1), 121–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/hex.12335
- Rashid, T. (2015). Positive psychotherapy: A strength-based approach. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 10(1), 25–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2014.920411
- Rask-Andersen, M., Olszewski, P. K., Levine, A. S., & Schiöth, H. B. (2010). Molecular mechanisms underlying anorexia nervosa: Focus on human gene association studies and systems controlling food intake. *Brain Research Reviews*, *62*(2), 147–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.10.007

- Regier, D. A., Kuhl, E. A., & Kupfer, D. J. (2013). The DSM-5: Classification and criteria changes. *World Psychiatry*, 12(2), 92–98. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20050
- Roberts, M. E., Tchanturia, K., Stahl, D., Southgate, L., & Treasure, J. (2007). A systematic review and meta-analysis of set-shifting ability in eating disorders. *Psychological Medicine*, *37*(8), 1075–1084. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291707009877
- Rodgers, R. F., Lombardo, C., Cerolini, S., Franko, D. L., Omori, M., Fuller-Tyszkiewicz, M., Linardon, J., Courtet, P., & Guillaume, S. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on eating disorder risk and symptoms. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *53*(7), 1166–1170. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23318
- Royant-Parola, S., Londe, V., Tréhout, S., & Hartley, S. (2018). The use of social media modifies teenagers' sleep-related behavior. *L'Encéphale*, 44(4), 321–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.encep.2017.03.009
- Rudolph, S. (2018). The connection between exercise addiction and orthorexia nervosa in German fitness sports. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 23(5), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-017-0437-2
- Ruscio, A. M. (2019). Normal versus pathological mood: Implications for diagnosis. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 15(1), 179–205. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050718-095644
- Sadowski, J., & Pasquale, F. (2015). The spectrum of control: A social theory of the smart city. *First Monday*, 20(7). https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v20i7.5903
- Salkovskis, P. M., & Bass, C. (1997). *Hypochondriasis*. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/med;psych/9780192627254.003.0013
- Santarossa, S., Coyne, P., Lisinski, C., & Woodruff, S. J. (2019). #fitspo on instagram: A mixed- methods approach using netlytic and photo analysis, uncovering the online discussion and author/image characteristics. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 24(3), 376–385. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105316676334
- Sartorius, N. (2015). Classification of psychiatric disorders: Challenges and perspectives. *Emotion Review*, 7(3), 204–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073915575408
- Saunders, J. F., & Eaton, A. A. (2018). Snaps, selfies, and shares: How three popular social media platforms contribute to the sociocultural model of disordered eating among young women. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 21(6), 343–354. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2017.0713
- Scarff, J. R. (2017). Orthorexia nervosa: An obsession with healthy eating. *Federal Practitioner*, 34(6), 36–39. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6370446/

- Schaumberg, K., Welch, E., Breithaupt, L., Hübel, C., Baker, J. H., Munn-Chernoff, M. A., Yilmaz, Z., Ehrlich, S., Mustelin, L., Ghaderi, A., Hardaway, A. J., Bulik-Sullivan, E. C., Hedman, A. M., Jangmo, A., Nilsson, I. A., Wiklund, C., Yao, S., Seidel, M., & Bulik, C. M. (2017). The science behind the academy for eating disorders' nine truths about eating disorders. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 25(6), 432–450. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2553
- Schmidt, U., & Treasure, J. (2006). Anorexia nervosa: Valued and visible. A cognitive-interpersonal maintenance model and its implications for research and practice. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *45*(3), 343–366. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505x53902
- Schwingshackl, L., & Hoffmann, G. (2015). Diet quality as assessed by the healthy eating index, the alternate healthy eating index, the dietary approaches to stop hypertension score, and health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, 115(5), 780–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2014.12.009
- Scott, N., Hanstock, T. L., & Patterson-Kane, L. (2013). Using Narrative Therapy to Treat Eating Disorder Not Otherwise Specified. *Clinical Case Studies*, *12*(4), 307–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534650113486184
- Semigran, H. L., Linder, J. A., Gidengil, C., & Mehrotra, A. (2015). Evaluation of symptom checkers for self diagnosis and triage: Audit study. *BMJ*, h3480. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h3480
- Shensa, A., Sidani, J. E., Dew, M. A., Escobar-Viera, C. G., & Primack, B. A. (2018). Social media use and depression and anxiety symptoms: A cluster analysis. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 42(2), 116–128. https://doi.org/10.5993/ajhb.42.2.11
- Shorter, E. (1994). From the mind to the body: Cultural origins of psychosomatic symptoms (1st ed.). Free Press.
- Sidani, J. E., Shensa, A., Hoffman, B., Hanmer, J., & Primack, B. A. (2016). The association between social media use and eating concerns among US young adults. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *116*(9), 1465–1472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2016.03.021
- Singla, G., Himanshu, Kaur, A., & Kaur, A. (2020). Rising dysmorphia among adolescents: A cause for concern. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 9(2), 567. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc 738 19
- Sloan, E. (2022, May 26). 7 wellness brands rooted in traditional chinese medicine. Well+Good. https://www.wellandgood.com/traditional-chinese-medicine-wellness-brands/

- Smailhodzic, E., Hooijsma, W., Boonstra, A., & Langley, D. J. (2016). Social media use in healthcare: A systematic review of effects on patients and on their relationship with healthcare professionals. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1691-0
- Spettigue, W., & Henderson, K. A. (2004). Eating disorders and the role of the media. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 16–19. https://doi.org/https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2533817/
- Spoth, R., Guyll, M., Lillehoj, C. J., Redmond, C., & Greenberg, M. (2007). Prosper study of evidence-based intervention implementation quality by community–university partnerships. *Journal of Community Psychology*, *35*(8), 981–999. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20207
- Staudacher, H. M., & Harer, K. N. (2018). When clean eating goes dirty. *The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology*, *3*(10), 668. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-1253(18)30277-2
- Stevens, A., Milne, R., & Burls, A. (2003). Health technology assessment: History and demand. *Journal of Public Health*, 25(2), 98–101. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdg022
- Stockman, M.-C., Thomas, D., Burke, J., & Apovian, C. M. (2018). Intermittent fasting: Is the wait worth the weight? *Current Obesity Reports*, 7(2), 172–185. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-018-0308-9
- Stormacq, C., Wosinski, J., Boillat, E., & Van den Broucke, S. (2020). Effects of health literacy interventions on health-related outcomes in socioeconomically disadvantaged adults living in the community: A systematic review. *JBI Evidence Synthesis*, *18*(7), 1389–1469. https://doi.org/10.11124/jbisrir-d-18-00023
- Strahler, J., & Stark, R. (2020). Perspective: Classifying orthorexia nervosa as a new mental illness—Much discussion, little evidence. *Advances in Nutrition*, 11(4), 784–789. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmaa012
- Suliman, A. (2021, November 11). Judge approves over \$600 million settlement in Flint water crisis, with children set to benefit. *The Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/nation/2021/11/11/flint-michigan-water-settlement-children/
- Szasz, T. S. (1961). In *The myth of mental illness*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-017738-0.50007-7
- Tan, L., & Ong, K. (2002). The impact of medical technology on healthcare today. *Hong Kong Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *9*(4), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1177/102490790200900410

- Tangney, C. C., Staffileno, B. A., & Rasmussen, H. E. (2017). Healthy eating: How do we define it and measure it? What's the evidence? *The Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 13(1), e7–e15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2016.08.026
- Tarsitano, M. G., Pujia, R., Ferro, Y., Mocini, E., Proni, G., Lenzi, F. R., Pujia, A., & Giannetta, E. (2022). Symptoms of orthorexia nervosa are associated with time spent on social media: A web-based survey in an Italian population sample. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*, 26(24), 9327–9335. https://doi.org/10.26355/eurrev_202212_30683
- Thomas, T. L., Schrock, C., & Friedman, D. B. (2016). Providing health consumers with emergency information: A systematic review of research examining social media use during public crises. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, 20(1-2), 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/15398285.2016.1142927
- Tiggemann, M., Hayden, S., Brown, Z., & Veldhuis, J. (2014). The effect of instagram "likes" on women's social comparison and body dissatisfaction. *Body Image*, *26*, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2018.07.002
- Top Hashtags. (n.d.). Top Hashtags Instagram. https://top-hashtags.com/instagram/
- Treasure, J., Cardi, V., & Kan, C. (2012). Eating in eating disorders. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 20(1), e42–e49. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.1090
- Turner, P. G., & Lefevre, C. E. (2017). Instagram use is linked to increased symptoms of orthorexia nervosa. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 22(2), 277–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-017-0364-2
- Udo, T., & Grilo, C. M. (2018). Prevalence and correlates of DSM-5–defined eating disorders in a nationally representative sample of U.S. adults. *Biological Psychiatry*, *84*(5), 345–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.03.014
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2015). Dietary guidelines for Americans 2015-2020. *Dietary Guidelines 8th Edition*. https://health.gov/our-work/food-nutrition/previous-dietary-guidelines/2015.
- Üstün, B., & Kennedy, C. (2009). What is "functional impairment"? Disentangling disability from clinical significance. *World Psychiatry*, 8(2), 82–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2009.tb00219.x
- Valente, M., Cesuroglu, T., Labrie, N., & Syurina, E. V. (2022). "When are we going to hold orthorexia to the same standard as anorexia and bulimia?" Exploring the medicalization process of orthorexia nervosa on twitter. Health Communication, 37(7), 872–879. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2021.1875558

- Valente, M., Renckens, S., Bunders-Aelen, J., & Syurina, E. V. (2022). The #orthorexia community on instagram. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 27(2), 473–482. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-021-01157-w
- Vandereycken, W. (2011). Media hype, diagnostic fad or genuine disorder? Professionals' opinions about night eating syndrome, orthorexia, muscle dysmorphia, and emetophobia. *Eating Disorders*, 19(2), 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640266.2011.551634
- Vannucci, A., Flannery, K. M., & Ohannessian, C. (2017). Social media use and anxiety in emerging adults. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 207, 163–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2016.08.040
- Varga, M., Dukay-Szabó, S., Túry, F., & van Furth Eric, F. (2013). Evidence and gaps in the literature on orthorexia nervosa. *Eating and Weight Disorders Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 18(2), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-013-0026-y
- Venigalla, H., Mekala, H., Hassan, M., Ahmed, R., & Zain, H. (2017). An update on biomarkers in psychiatric disorders—Are we aware, Do we use in our clinical practice? *Mental Health in Family Medicine*, 13. https://www.mhfmjournal.com/open-access/an-update-on-biomarkers-in-psychiatric-disorders--are-we-aware-do-we-use-in-our-clinical-practice.pdf
- Vuillier, L., Robertson, S., & Greville-Harris, M. (2020). Orthorexic tendencies are linked with difficulties with emotion identification and regulation. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-020-00291-7
- Wade, R., Jr., Becker, B. D., Bevans, K. B., Ford, D. C., & Forrest, C. B. (2017). Development and evaluation of a short adverse childhood experiences measure. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *52*(2), 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.09.033
- Wagner, A., Aizenstein, H., Venkatraman, V. K., Bischoff-Grethe, A., Fudge, J., May, J., Frank, G. K., Bailer, U. F., Fischer, L., Putnam, K., & Kaye, W. H. (2010). Altered striatal response to reward in bulimia nervosa after recovery. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43(4), 289–294. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20699
- Walsh, L., Hyett, N., Juniper, N., Li, C., Rodier, S., & Hill, S. (2021). The use of social media as a tool for stakeholder engagement in health service design and quality improvement: A scoping review. *DIGITAL HEALTH*, 7, 205520762199687. https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207621996870
- Wang, G.-J., Geliebter, A., Volkow, N. D., Telang, F. W., Logan, J., Jayne, M. C., Galanti, K., Selig, P. A., Han, H., Zhu, W., Wong, C. T., & Fowler, J. S. (2011). Enhanced striatal dopamine release during food stimulation in binge eating disorder. *Obesity*, *19*(8), 1601–1608. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.27
- Watters, E. (2011). Crazy like us: The globalization of the American psyche (Reprint ed.). Free Press.

- West-Knights, I. (2020, July 6). Simple and fastic apps: Why do I keep seeing intermittent fasting ads on social media? *Vice*. https://www.vice.com/en/article/xg8g3d/how-deeply-unsettling-intermittent-fasting-apps-took-over-social-media
- Widiger, T. A., & Clark, L. (2000). Toward DSM-V and the classification of psychopathology. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(6), 946–963. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.126.6.946
- Widmer, R., Mandrekar, J., Ward, A., Aase, L. A., Lanier, W. L., Timimi, F. K., & Gerber, T.C. (2014). Effect of promotion via social media on access of articles in an academic medical journal. *Academic Medicine*, 94(10), 1546–1553. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.0000000000002811
- Wieten, S. (2018). Expertise in evidence-based medicine: A tale of three models. *Philosophy, Ethics, and Humanities in Medicine*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13010-018-0055-2
- Wilksch, S. M., O'Shea, A., Ho, P., Byrne, S., & Wade, T. D. (2020). The relationship between social media use and disordered eating in young adolescents. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 53(1), 1–154. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23198
- Wirfält, A. K., & Jeffery, R. W. (1997). Using cluster analysis to examine dietary patterns: Nutrient intakes, gender, and weight status differ across food pattern clusters. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 97(3), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0002-8223(97)00071-0
- Wonderlich, S. A., Joiner, T. E., Jr., Keel, P. K., Williamson, D. A., & Crosby, R. D. (2007). Eating disorder diagnoses: Empirical approaches to classification. *American Psychologist*, 62(3), 167–180. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066x.62.3.167
- Worland, J. (2016, October 28). What to know about the Dakota access pipeline protests. *Time*. https://time.com/4548566/dakota-access-pipeline-standing-rock-sioux/
- Yilmaz, M. N., & Dundar, C. (2022). The relationship between orthorexia nervosa, anxiety, and self-esteem: A cross-sectional study in Turkish faculty members. *BMC Psychology*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-022-00796-7
- Yilmaz, Z., Schaumberg, K., Halvorsen, M., Goodman, E. L., Brosof, L. C., Crowley, J. J., Mathews, C. A., Mattheisen, M., Breen, G., Bulik, C. M., Micali, N., & Zerwas, S. C. (2022). Predicting eating disorder and anxiety symptoms using disorder-specific and transdiagnostic polygenic scores for anorexia nervosa and obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychological Medicine*, 53(7), 3021–3035. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291721005079
- Yücel, Ü., & Yücel, M. (2022). Changes in diet, lifestyle, and orthorexia nervosa tendency during the COVID-19 pandemic: A web-based study. *Clinical Nutrition ESPEN*, 49, 241–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnesp.2022.04.011

- Yue, Z., Lee, D. S., Xiao, J., & Zhang, R. (2023). Social media use, psychological well-being and physical health during lockdown. *Information, Communication & Society*, 26(7), 1452–1469. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2021.2013917
- Zhang, S., Wang, W., Su, X., Kemp, G. J., Yang, X., Su, J., Tan, Q., Zhao, Y., Sun, H., Yue, Q., & Gong, Q. (2018). Psychoradiological investigations of gray matter alterations in patients with anorexia nervosa. *Translational Psychiatry*, 8(1), 277. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0323-3